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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
XI  ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECWRITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010
O TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34528

ZAGG INCORPORATED

NEVADA 20-2559624
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
3855 S 500 W, Suite J, Salt Lake City, U 84115
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Issuer’s telephone number: (801) 263-0699
Securities registered under 12(b) of the Exchangeck None
Securities registered under 12 (g) of the Exchangfct:
Common Stock, par value $0.001
(Title of Class)
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vielbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edB#turities Act. YeBl No ™
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord)&f the Exchange Act. Yd&d No M
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant isnitted electronically and posted on its corpokibsite, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRiule 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedinmgadhths (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post §ileg). Yesd No ™
Indicated by check mark whether the registranfi{@)l all reports required to be filed by Sectiaghdr 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the
past 12 months (or for such shorter period thatelgéstrant was required to file such reports), @)chas been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. ¥&s No O
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiiliigs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K @&t eontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgealdfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part IIl of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10{H.
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, n-accelerated filer, or a smaller repor
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdiled,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportingpmpany” in Rule 1212 of the Exchang
Act.
Large accelerated filerd Accelerated filer0 Non-accelerated filerd Smaller reporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgfe Act). Yedd No ™
The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmga@ommon equity held by non-affiliates as of d@0, 2010, was $47,475,026. For

purposes of the foregoing calculation only, direstand executive officers and holders of 10% orevadrthe issuer’'s common capital stock
have been deemed affiliat



The number of shares of the Registrant’s commockstatstanding as of March 17, 2011, was 24,128,874
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PART |
Special Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements

Information included or incorporated by refereneéehis Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardking statements. All forward-
looking statements are inherently uncertain as #reybased on current expectations and assumgiorcerning future events or future
performance of the Company. Readers are cautiooetd place undue reliance on these forwlaaking statements, which are only predicti
and speak only as of the date hereof. Forward-tgpktatements may contain the words “estimate ticgrate,” “believe,” “expect,”
“forecast,” or similar expressions, and are subjectumerous known and unknown risks and uncergginfdditionally, statements relating to
implementation of business strategy, future finahgerformance, acquisition strategies, capitaingi transactions, performance of contractual
obligations, and similar statements may contaiw&vd-looking statements. In evaluating such stat#s) prospective investors and
shareholders should carefully review various riad uncertainties identified in this Report, inchgdthe matters set forth under the captions
“Risk Factors” and in the Company’s other SEC {iinThese risks and uncertainties could cause ehgp@ny’s actual results to differ
materially from those indicated in the forward-lirgk statements. The Company disclaims any obligaticupdate or publicly announce
revisions to any forward-looking statements toegetffuture events or developments.

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&adport on Form 10-K reflect the good faith judgmehour management, such statements
can only be based on facts and factors currentyvknby us. Consequently, forward-looking statemangsinherently subject to risks and
uncertainties, and actual results and outcomesdififey materially from the results and outcomegdsed in or anticipated by the forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause driboite to such differences in results and outcomelside, without limitation, those
specifically addressed under the heading “RiskdtadRelated to Our Business” below, as well asdhtiscussed elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Readers are urged not to pladee reliance on these forwdabking statements, which speak only as of the dathis
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We file reports witte tBecurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Yau read and copy any materials we
file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Rpt00 F. Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Yawu @btain additional information
about the operation of the Public Reference Roorodtiing the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In additioe, BEC maintains an Internet site
(www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy andrimfation statements, and other information regardiagers that file electronically with the
SEC, including us.

We disclaim any obligation to revise or update fomyvard-looking statements in order to reflect awent or circumstance that may arise after
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readee urged to carefully review and consider theoaus disclosures made throughout the
entirety of this annual report, which attempt toves@ interested parties of the risks and factoed thay affect our business, financial conditi
results of operations and prospects.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business

Headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah, ZAGG Incogted designs, manufactures and distributes pieéecbverings, audio accessories and
power solutions for consumer electronic and hard-tievices under the brand names invisibleSHIELBRGGskins™, ZAGGbuds™,
ZAGGsparq™, and ZAGGmate™.

Our flagship product, the invisibleSHIELD, is m&dem a protective film covering that was develogeiginally to protect the leading edges
rotary blades of military helicopters. We deterndirieat this same film product could be configuredittonto the surface of electronic devices
and marketed to consumers for use in protecting dewgices from everyday wear and tear, includingtsbes, scrapes, debris and other su
blemishes. The film also permits touch sensitiviiganing it can be used on devices that have &tstreen interface. The invisibleSHIELD
film material is highly reliable and durable becaitswas originally developed for use in a higletion, high velocity context within the
aerospace industry. The film provides long laspngtection for the surface of electronic deviceject to normal wear and tear. The film is a
form of polyurethane substance, akin to a very, thiiable, flexible and durable clear plastic tadheres to the surface and shape of the ob
is applied to.




The invisibleSHIELD is designed specifically foroiéls ® , iPads ® , laptops, cell phones, digital esas, watch faces, GPS systems, gaming
devices, and other items. The product is “cuffittepecific devices and packaged together withagstare activating solution which makes the
invisibleSHIELD adhere to the surface of the deyliterally “like a second skin,” and virtually ifsible to the eye. The patent-pending
invisibleSHIELD is the first scratch protection stibn of its kind on the market. The invisibleSHIE is not ornamental, but rather provides a
long lasting barrier to preserve the brand new lobthe surface of an electronic device. In e@f¢0 we introduced the invisibleSHIELD
DRY through retail partners, which is a protectivm made from the same material as the origineisibleSHIELD, and engineered to be
clearer, smoother to the touch, and apply withbetrteed for fluid. In the beginning of 2011 we edithe invisibleSHIELD Smudge-Proof to
our line, which also incorporates the invisibleSHIEfilm with added features that eliminate smudd#&gyerprints, and glare from the device
display.

Currently, ZAGG offers over 5,000 precision pre-itwtisibleSHIELD designs with a lifetime replacemevarranty through online channels,
big-box retailers, electronics specialty stores, resglicollege bookstores, Mac stores, and mall kiodKe plan to increase our product line
offer new electronic accessories to our tech-sausfomer base, as well as an expanded array acilfeSHIELD products for other
industries. Given the amazing success of theilmeSHIELD, ZAGG has the unique opportunity to oféelditional accessories from a trusted
source to gadget enthusiasts worldwide.

The ZAGGaudio brand of electronics accessoriespaoducts were first released in late 2008, andicoas to focus on innovation and supe
value. The flagship product within ZAGGaudio i tward winning ZAGGsmartbuds™ line, which includés5Gaquabuds, a wateesistar
earbud introduced in late 2010. A previous winpfethe coveted CES Design and Innovation awardZ#@&Gsmartbuds line has been very
well received by professional reviewers, experts ttve consumer base. On January 12, 2010, we wereled patent number US D 607,87!
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, coveringgiteslements of ZAGGsmartbuds in-ear headphones.

ZAGGskins were introduced in November 2009, andliom customizable, high-resolution images withgbeatch protection of ZAGG'’s
invisibleSHIELD. To create a ZAGGskin, consumestest from a library of professional designs oroaul their own high-resolution personal
photos or images. The printed image, custom dedifor their device, is then merged with the exgkisultra-tough, patented
invisibleSHIELD film, which allows customers to lmoprotect and individualize their gadgets withrege product.

In early 2009 we introduced the ZAGGsparq, a snpalyerful, portable battery that can recharge agrewngry “smartphone” up to four
times before the ZAGGsparq itself needs to be mgelth Featuring a 6000ma lithium polymer cell, ##&GGsparq plugs into a wall outlet a
provides two USB ports for charging mobile devicés adapter is also included that fits many inédional standards. The ZAGGsparq is
compatible with any USB-charged device, including Apple® iPad and iPhone@s well as cell phones, handheld gaming systendsdigital
cameras.

We also introduced ZAGG LEATHERSskins in early 20IDAGG LEATHERSsKkins are thin, pliable cases thatlgmlirectly to personal
electronics like a film, and are created from gaedeather. Available in typical leather shades gremium animal patterns, ZAGG
LEATHERSskins use an adhesive that holds the skinljiin place on the device, but can be removetdessary. Later in 2010, we broade
the line to include ZAGG sportLEATHER, which ars@kreated from genuine leather and feature atthetreations of baseball, football
and basketball textures. ZAGG LEATHERskins and#feATHERS are available for the most popular pasdelectronics.

We introduced the ZAGGmate on November 26, 2018lack Friday” — in select national retailers. TBAGGmate is a protective and
functional companion to the Apple iPad that accatets both the appearance and utility of Apple'svative device. Made from aircraft-grade
aluminum with a high quality finish, the patent-gérg ZAGGmate matches the design, look and fegh®iPad. The ZAGGmate line features
two models, one with a simple, innovative stand lamitt-in wireless Bluetooth® keyboard that allofes fast, responsive typing, and
interaction with the iPad's features. The secondehreplaces the keyboard with a more versatiedsthat provides multiple angles for

use. We have already seen tremendous media attdatithe ZAGGmate, including an appearance onQpeh Winfrey Show, where it was
introduced to the host by rapper-turned-tech-mdf@lHammer. The ZAGGmate has also already won sépeestigious industry awards,
including the Macworld Expo 2011 Best of Show aedognition as a CES Innovations Design and Engimgétonoree.




We maintain our corporate offices and operatioaaility at 3855 South 500 West, Suites B, C, J.KM, O and R, Salt Lake City, Utah,
84115. The telephone number of the Company is &BLB99. Our website address is www.ZAGG.coiformation contained on, or
accessible through, our website is not a partrad,ia not incorporated by reference into, this repo

Strategy

At ZAGG, we are' Z ealousA boutG reat G adgets.” We believe that hand-held devices and gadgets beee developed to be aesthetically
pleasing as designed and that bulky silicone, iglastleather cases impede the overall end usejsyment of the form and function of their
device. Consumers purchase these types of ac@sssmhelp protect their devices from getting sztrad and damaged. The invisibleSHIELD
provides the end consumer with an alternative tlybcases that provides unparalleled device priateatithout impeding the functionality ai
enjoyment of the consumers’ device.

We will continue to expand our product offering &dus on innovative products and services thatavetarget market to our customers based
on their purchase history. When a customer pueshan invisibleSHIELD from ZAGG, we know exactly attiype of device they have, as the
invisibleSHIELD is custom cut for each device. Mhat information we can develop specific markgftans to sell additional products
including power supplies, car chargers, ear budsotimer accessory items. Our current lines of ssmgy items, including our brands
ZAGGskins™, ZAGG LEATHERskins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsgéaf, and ZAGGmate™, are available to our customfersugh our websi

at www.ZAGG.comand through our retail distribution channels ad.wel

As we continue to develop and enhance our brandraard reputation, we anticipate entering into &olttt complementary industries to
provide support to our invisibleSHIELD product line

Design and Packaging

We design and cut thenvisibleSHIELD product for application on thousanaf specific electronic devices. We acquire raatarials from
third party sources that are delivered to our iteed and assembled for packaging. In additionpwiesource high volume precision-cutting of
the materials, which we consider to be more cdettfe. We then package the configured matet@sther with an installation kit consisting
of a moisture adhesive-activating solution, a sgaeeeand instructions for application on specifzgonic devices. We also outsource some
of these packaging processes to independent thiteep. We have developed relationships with pgelkessembly, shipping, and logistics
companies that allow us to expand our productiahsdmpping capacity as we continue to grow.

We have a patent pending on the process of wragpirentire gadget body in a transparent, duralidlesamipermanent film. We also custc
design each cutout for the film and currently ham&ue designs for over 5,000 devices. The cudesigns are developed internally and ov
exclusively by us. We do not own the patent ferblase materials, but have an exclusive agreenmtnthe supplier for the use of the film a
believe that our relationship with the manufactwiethe raw material is on excellent terms andcpdite no interruption in our ability to
acquire adequate supplies of the materials andupsoproducts.

We have developed our retail packaging with thelirgh major retailers to appeal to the end consurnea retail basis. We have designed the
cardboard box packaging to be informative and etitra for point-of-sale displays.

Market for Products

The portable electronic device market, notably haftdl devices, is continuing to see advancemergsiformance and functionality in existing
models. Furthermore, the market is expanding aeaged by new product developments in portabletieric devices. Correspondingly, the
aesthetics of such devices is increasingly impottathe extent that buyers are considering th& &al feel of such devices, as much as
performance, in making their purchasing decisions.




As a result, an industry and significant market é@erged in protecting portable electronic devioesably the “high end” devices — both in
terms of price, and design/functionality. Consunaesseeking ways to protect the device from wadrtaar and damage, but not impede the
look, feel, or functionality of the device.

We sell the invisibleSHIELD directly, and througbralistributors and retail sellers, to consumersle€tronic household and hand-held
devices. We sell a significant amount of prodoctifse on Apple’s iPad, iPhone, and iPod devidexording to industry reports, Apple sold
over 15 million iPads in 2010 and could sell as ynasn 40 million iPads alone in 2011, including tekease of a new model of iPad. The
handheld electronics industry has continued to eteakd develop devices with touch screen interfeares several major manufacturers,
including Samsung, Motorola and RIM will releasengeting products to the iPad in 2011. The inves8HIELD is the ideal device protection
offering for all types of gadgets, in particulanéb-screen tablets, as it does not interfere vighftinctionality of the device while offering
complete scratchproof protection. We will contitadocus our marketing efforts around these tygfegadgets as the premier protection
solution while maintaining the overall form and étionality of the device.

To date, we have not partnered with any manufateelectronic devices to bundle our productdiwiich devices on initial sale, or to
include as part of the device, the applicationwfmroducts. In the future, we may seek such eangement or an alternative co-marketing
agreement, but we have not entered into definiiegotiations for such an arrangement as yet.

Market Segments

With over 5,000 invisibleSHIELD products/produchéigurations available, we have a protective cawgfor all major market segments of
handheld electronic devices, including: iPods atiér brand MP3 players, iPads and other notebooipaters, cell phones, laptops, GPS
devices, watch faces, and similar devices and sesfaNe intend to continue to configure the inVe&3HIELD product for use in newly
developed consumer devices. Unlike manufacturecemipeting device cases that need months to dasigmanufacture customized
accessories for new devices, the invisibleSHIELD Isa quickly configured and packaged for new dessathey enter the consumer
marketplace, making the invisibleSHIELD availalde purchase ahead of competing accessories foetestronic devices.

One of our fastest growing market segments istiertsphone consumer. Most often, smart phone uyerdrawn to the device by its eleg
design, as well as its easy-to-use functionalifpwever, everyday use often mars the finish on remetrt phone devices, screen and other
areas that receive wear and tear. Traditionakptive products are bulky and detract from a siplashe’s elegance by covering it up. Other
common protectors either do not offer enough ptaiecor they are not durable enough to properbtgxt the device. However, an
invisibleSHIELD covering is exactly that — invisg+ meaning it does not cover up the design, farfartctionality of the smart phone and
doesn't inhibit the touch sensitivity for smart ples with touch screen technology.

As sales of electronics continue to grow, we apéta that sales of our complimentary products eafitinue to grow, as well. Four of the
largest areas of our market opportunities relatates of iPods, cellular telephones, digital ca®and tablet computing devices. Accordin
industry sources, over 48.7 million iPods, 47.4lioniliPhones, and 14.7 million iPads were sold Ippke Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Early estimates conclude thext ©.38 billion cell phones and over 109.9 millaigital cameras were sold worldwide in
2010. ZAGG is positioned to serve all of thesekmats with its after-market invisibleSHIELD products

Marketing and Distribution

We sell our products directly on our website, tlylodistributors, through kiosk vendors in shoppimalls and retail centers, and through
electronics retailers. Our products are availétnesale worldwide via our website. Currently wivartise our products on the Internet and
through point of sale displays at retail locatioh8e also advertise our products on televisionraib both locally and nationally. We intend
to expand our advertising while continuing our atigang strategy over the course of 2011. We ése seeking to create strategic partnerships
with makers of cellular phone devices and electragicessories.

Indirect Channels

We sell our invisibleSHIELD products through inditehannels including big box retailers, domestid anternational distributors, independ
Apple retailers, university bookstores, and snraleipendently owned consumer electronics storesthEgear ended December 31, 2010, we
sold approximately $55,396,674 of product througgse indirect channels, or approximately 73% ofowarall net sales for 2010. We require
all indirect channel partners to enter into a lese@greement with us.




We continue to utilize multiple distributors to rkat and place our products for sale in the UnitedeS and abroad. We have entered into
distribution agreements for many geographic locetimcluding the United States, United Kingdom, thaiga, Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia, So
Korea, Mexico, Germany and South America for thekating, distribution and sale of our products.

We are continuously negotiating for new distribatrelationships in the United States and abroadd®ase the marketing and sale of our
products in retail locations.

Website Sales

We sell our products worldwide directly to consusmen our website at www.ZAGG.comFor the year ended December 31, 2010, we sold
approximately $14,033,683 of product on our websiteapproximately 18% of our overall net salesZ010.

We also generated revenue from shipping chargessiomers. For the year ended December 31, 204 @ewerated approximately
$1,883,623 from shipping charges, primarily fronm miernet customers, or approximately 2% of ougrall net sales for 2010.

Mall Kiosk Vendors

We sell our invisibleSHIELD products to kiosk vendors in shapgpimalls and retail centers. We enter into agreesneith such vendors who
purchase the products and resell them to consunk@nsthe year ended December 31, 2010, we soldbzippately $4,641,734 of product, or
approximately 7% of our overall net sales for 2ah@ugh our corporate owned mall carts and tabeel cart owners. The third party licen
cart owners are required to enter into a standeedde and resale agreement with us wherein weelaar upfront license fee that is recogni
into revenue over the life of the license. Forykar ended December 31, 2010, we recognized 316 9ekated to these license agreements.

Company Organization

Our operations are divided and organized as follomarketing and sales, which includes the developrard maintenance of our website,
customer service, production, distribution and pimg, art and graphics, product design, and gerechladministration functions.

Warranties

We offer a lifetime guaranty of the durability afro invisibleSHIELD products. If the invisibleSHIEL3 iever scratched or damaged (in the
course of normal use), a customer simply needsrid back the old product and we will replace itffee. The products that the
invisibleSHIELD is applied to, typically have ralaly short lives which helps to limit our exposudoe warranty claims. We also offer limited
warranties on our audio and charging product Ilthes are fully covered by our manufacturing parsrfer these products.

Intellectual Property Rights:

ZAGG owns U.S. Patents that relate to its invissitiéEL D® protective films for electronic gadgetsgdarontinues to actively pursue additional
protection for its invisibleSHIELD® protective filmin both the United States and InternationallyGG\is currently seeking patent protection
for (i) durable transparent films that cover andtpct all of the outer surfaces of consumer eleatrdevices; (ii) both wet and dry apply
processes for securing protective films to consustentronic devices; and (iii) dry-apply protectfilens. ZAGG has also obtained and
continues to seek patent protection for its popak@&Gbud™ in-ear headphones. In addition, ZAGGfiled patent applications for its
ZAGGmate™ protective cases (with and without a keytd) which provide protection for tablet computerthout distracting from their
appearance. As of December 31, 2010, ZAGG wasgsmilfng ZAGGmate™ protective cases for the Applad.

ZAGG is the owner of more than 5,000 designs foGIAs invisibleSHIELD protective films which are cantly available for various
consumer electronic devices. New designs arenmelytadded to ZAGG’s IP portfolio. ZAGG is alsoigety developing new designs for its
ZAGGmate. ZAGG has filed design applications in theted States and abroad to protect many of itstmpopular designs.




ZAGG claims common law protection for and/or haplegal to register a variety of trademarks and serwharks in the United States and a
number foreign countries for “ZAGG” and various Z&Gogos, “invisibleSHIELD” and various invisibleSHLD logos, “ZAGGmate,”
“Military Grade,” “Made for Smartphones,” and nuroas other trademarks and service marks.

In addition, ZAGG has strategically developed egile relationships and exclusive agreements withraber of critical third party vendors,
suppliers and partners. ZAGG'’s long-standing reteships with its raw materials suppliers and inurfacturers expand the scope of potential
intellectual protection available to ZAGG includidgvelopment of innovative solutions for protectiiims. These exclusive relationships also
provide ZAGG with a reasonable expectation thaiilitbe able to supply its customers with proddotsg into the future.

ZAGG regularly files applications to protect itw@ntions, designs and trademarks. While ZAGG bebahat the ownership of intellectual
property protection is important to its business] that its success is based in part upon the @hipeof intellectual property rights, ZAGG'’s
success is also based upon the innovation compeseoicits qualified and creative team.

Patents

ZAGG has been awarded US Patent D607,875 by theed)Sitates Patent and Trademark Office. Thenpaterers, among other things,
design elements of ZAGG's popular ZAGGbuds™ intesadphones. ZAGG is seeking further patent priotedor its ZAGGbuds™ in-ear
headphones through the patent application thab&es published as U.S. Patent Application Pubtca2i010/0272305.

ZAGG has acquired the U.S. Patents 7,389,869 at8#,610. These patents provide ZAGG with exclusiglets to certain kits and methods
for applying protective films to mobile electrordevices.

ZAGG’s U.S. Patent Application Publication 2009/6@85, titled Protective Covering for An Electrolevice, has been filed to provide
ZAGG with exclusive patent rights to protective eangs and systems and methods for covering meklglgtronic devices with thin protective
films. This includes both partial coverings ant éoverings.

U.S. Patent Application Publication 2010/02701&&d Protective Covering with Customizable ImageAn Electronic Device is intended to
protect our ZAGGskin™ products.

A significant number of additional yet-to-be pubksl patent applications have been filed by ZAG@rtdect its innovations.
Trademarks
We have received the following Trademark Registregifrom the United States Patent and Trademarkéff

« SHIELD DESIGN TRADEMARK, Registration 3,923,393
« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Registration 3,825,458
« ZAGG, Registration 3,838,237




We have the following Trademark Applications petgivith the United States Patent and Trademark &ffic

« INVISIBLE SHIELD

o ZAGG

« APPSPACE

« ZAGGBOX

o ZAGG with design

« SHIELD ZONE

« MADE FOR SMARTPHONES

« MADE FOR SMARTPHONES logt
« Z with design

. SPARQ

We also claim common law trademark rights in th8.Wo each of the trademarks listed above as \sab ¢he following marks: the ZAGG
shield logo, “ShieldSpray,” “Invisible Invincible;'Protect Your Digital Life,” “Ultimate Scratch Prection,” “Military Grade”, Military Grade
logo, “Rise Above,” “ZAGGbuds,” “ZAGGfoam,” “ZAGGnta,” “ZAGGwipes,” “Zealous About Great Gadgets,”ABGskins,”
“ZAGGaudio,” “ZAGGsparq,” “Z with design,” “Z.buds;'ZAGGsmartbuds,” “Z.buds Edge,” “ZAGGbox,” “Nanbemory,”and “Enhancing
and Protecting the Mobile Experience.”

We have also received the following trademark tegfimns outside of the U.S.:

o ZAGG, CTM No. 006328215 - EUROPEAN UNION

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 5234734 — JAPAN

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 1266121 — AUSTRALIA

» ZAGG, Reg. No. 301217754 — HONG KONG

o ZAGG, No. 4(-200¢-004805C- SOUTH KOREA

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 109822- MEXICO

o ZAGG, Reg. No. 74483- CHINA

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Resolution No. 6377- COLUMBIA

« INVISIBLE SHIELD with design, CTM. No. 849205- EUROPEAN UNION

We have filed the following trademark applicatiamish the trademark office in India:

« INVISIBLE SHIELD with Design
We have filed trademark applications for the maFBPSPACE in the following jurisdictions:

« United States

. Canada

« European Union
« Australia

« China

« Japar




We have filed trademark applications for the mafGG pending in the following jurisdictions:

« United States
. Canada

« India

« Columbia

We have filed trademark applications for mark INNMBSE SHIELD in the following jurisdictions:

« United State:
« Canade
« Columbia

Government Regulations

Our operations are subject to various federalestat local employee workplace protection regutatiocluding those of the Occupational
Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”). We belésthat compliance with federal, state and locairenmental protection regulations will
not have a material adverse effect on our capiadeditures, earnings and competitive and finarmaaition. Although we believe that our
worker and employee safety procedures are adeguadtan compliance with law, we cannot completelgnelate the risk of injury to our
employees, or that we may occasionally, uninteafignbe out of compliance with application lawn duch event, we could be liable for
damages or fines or both.

Employees

We have 156 full-time employees and 27 part timplegrees including our management team. We haven@doyees in sales and marketing
including our website and design, 10 in generaladinistration, 10 in operations, 13 in technolsgpport, and 64 customer service agents.
We have 25 employees employed on an hourly ortpae-basis at our retail cart/kiosk locations. &oployee is represented by a labor union,
and we have never suffered an interruption of lassircaused by labor disputes. We believe ouigre&dtip with our employees is good.

Our Corporate History

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Api2(®4, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterprise¢'BE”). On February 8, 2007,
AKE executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (Merger Agreement”) by and between AKE and its whollvned subsidiary, SZC
Acquisition, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Subsigliaron the one hand, and ShieldZone Corporatiddtah corporation (“ShieldZone”) on the
other hand. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, &hogle merged with Subsidiary, with ShieldZone sting the merger and Subsidiary
ceasing to exist (the “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateNevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 2(&heldZone was merged up and
into AKE. At that time, AKE changed its name to Z&Gncorporated, and the operations of the survientity (ZAGG Incorporated) are
solely that of ShieldZone. As a result of thes@msactions, the historical financial statementBAGG Incorporated are the historical financial
statements of ShieldZone. The fiscal year end @Qbmpany is December 31.

We changed our name from ShieldZone Corporaticd®BGG Incorporated to better position the companigeoome a large and encompassing
enterprise in the electronics’ accessories indubtigugh organic growth and through making targeteglisitions. The ShieldZone name was
very specific to the invisibleSHIELD product lirend although the invisibleSHIELD is and will contento be our core product, the name
change has brought us the opportunity to easilynasd products to our product offering. ZAGG willtimue to search out other
complimentary proven products and companies thétdi ZAGG lifestyle and strategy for fast growth.




Recent Developments

In June 2008, a former member of our board of trsg Lorance Harmer, introduced us to a poteotiasumer electronics product, which
became known as the ZAGGbox. The ZAGGbox aggregiitgtal content such as music, pictures, videwsraovies in a single location and
allows the user to share the content with mostrateéwvorked media players, including mobile devicéster investigating the market
opportunity for the ZAGGbox, we determined in J@089 to license certain rights for the developnaemt sale of the ZAGGbox in North
America. Thereafter, we entered into a Distribuitgmd License Agreement with Teleportall, LLC, tvener of the technology used in the
ZAGGbox, under which Teleportall agreed to manufeetand deliver ZAGGboxes to us and we were appaitite exclusive distributor for t
ZAGGbox in North American. On June 17, 2009, vaaiédd our initial purchase order for 15,000 ZAGGhaoits and advanced to Teleportall a
total of $1,152,500 representing a $200,000 NREafek$952,500 in payment of 30% of the total puseharice for the 15,000 units orderec
us.

Teleportall proceeded to develop and test protatyfehe ZAGGbox and provided periodic progres®repto us. We continued to conduct
market analysis for the product and requested akgkanges to the functions and features of the @GB&x. Teleportall did not deliver the
product in time for the 2009 Christmas selling s@as

Development of the product continued in 2010 wiil éxpectation that the product would be delivénadne for the 2010 Christmas selling
season. We made additional payments for long tieaelparts to Teleportall in the aggregate amo@i$2¢747,410. When it became obvious
to us that the product would not be ready to maakelt sell during the 2010 Christmas season, we aomed discussions to restructure the
Distribution and License Agreement with Teleportdlluring the course of those discussions, we &hm January 2011 that Mr. Harmer had
an indirect interest of 25% in Teleportall. Asesult, on March 23, 2011, we entered into a sedlgragreement with Mr. Harmer and several
entities owned or controlled by Mr. Harmer, purduanwhich the parties agreed to terminate theristion and License Agreement on the
following terms:

« Mr. Harmer, Teleportall, and certain of their a#fies delivered a promissory note (the “ Ndjtedated March 23, 2011 to us in
original principal amount of $4,125,902 which a@sunterest at the rate of LIBOR plus 4% per anfadjusted quarterly) payable
follows: (i) interest only payments (a) on Septemd@, 2011, and thereafter (b) on or before tseday of each calendar quarter,
50% of the net profits of each ZAGGbox sale by Ppeltall and its affiliates to be applied, first,docrued interest and, second, tc
principal balance of the Note, and (iii) the unpa@ance due in full on March 23, 2013. The priatipmount of the Note is t
aggregate amount of the payments made by us tepdmedd and the internal cost of the ZAGGbox projecurred by us. The Note
secured by certain real property, interests irtiestthat own real property and restricted se@si

« Teleportall and the Company entered into a Liceligeeement on March 23, 2011 under which we licensedeleportall the u:
certain ZAGG names and marks to sell and distritheeZAGGbox product. Teleportall shall pay ZAGG@% royalty on net sales
ZAGGboxes per calendar quart

« Teleportall and ZAGG entered into a nexelusive Commission Agreement on March 23, 20htien which Teleportall may ma
introductions of many ZAGG products in all coungrighere ZAGG does not currently have exclusiveidgagreements in respec
the marketing, distribution or sale of its producthe Commission Agreement is for a term of twp y@ars; provided that (a) t
Commission Agreement shall automatically terminadacurrent with any uncured default under the Natej (b) the term may
extended for an additional term on reasonable térifaleportall’s introductions during the initial term result retpurchase of no le
than $25,000,000 of ZAGG products during the ihigam. Payment terms of the Commission Agreeraeatas follows

« 10.0% commission payments on orders received biyoms retailers and distributors first introducedtl® company by Teleport
during the first 60 days after the introductionnigde (the “ Loadn Period”) to be split 50/50 between cash to Teleportall
principal payments on the Note. However, all consmis payments will be paid to ZAGG if Teleportallin breach of the terms of -
Note or any other agreements between the partiek

« 3.0% commission on all orders within the first 2énths after the Loein Period, and 2.0% thereafter, from any ordersegaed il
the countries where Teleportall is paid a commissioder the terms set forth in the preceding bydlEnt (excluding the Unite
States) regardless of Teleportall's involvemenZ&GG's receipt of the order for 5 years. The 3.0% afdc2commissions will t
split 50/50 between cash to Teleportall and prialcgayments on the Not




HzO Transactior

On November 18, 2010, we filed a Current ReportFonm 8K to disclose the conversion of a bridge loan ist@ares of HzO Series
Preferred Stock, and the resulting acquisition5%50f HzO by us. The assets acquired consisteghfoximately $150,000 in equipment
certain intangible assets. As such, we determthatiwe were not required to file an amendmenth® Current Report to provide sepa
financial information relating to HzO. All requitefinancial information relating to HzO is includéd the financial statements and rel:
footnotes of this Report.

Changes to Board of Directors

On March 14, 2011, Lorence A. Harmer resigned diseztor of the Company. Mr. Harmer had servedeveral of our Committees through
November 5, 2010 including serving as the Chairafahe Compan’s Audit Committee; as a member of our Compensadiuth Stock Option
Committee; and as a member of our Nominating angp@ate Governance Committee. Effective Novemb&030, Randall Hales was
appointed as the chairman of our Audit Committee.

On March 9, 2011, the Company appointed Cherylhegaas a member of the Company’s Board of Directbls. Larabee will serve on the
Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors

Ms. Larabee is the Associate Vice President fovemsity Advancement at Boise State University. Bhg campus-wide responsibility for
development activities with a focus on the CollefiBusiness & Economics where she also serves asdjanct faculty member.

Ms. Larabee had a 25-year corporate banking céweased on financial problem-solving with cliengsging from start-ups to the Fortune
500. She is the former Senior Vice President aedtéfn U.S. Regional Manager of the Corporate BenRiivision at KeyBank. Previously
she managed middle market teams at U.S. Bank itteRdr Oregon, and served a national client ba€¥@tker Bank in San Francisco,
California.

Ms. Larabee currently serves on the boards of Nbrcg Jacksons Food Stores, Healthwise Inc., §griBancorp, Bogus Basin Recreation
Association and the Capital City Development Coagion.

Amended and Restated Loan Agreer

On March 8, 2011, we entered into an Amended arsfafRel Loan Agreement dated March 7, 2011 (the “A&Rn Agreement”), with U.S.
Bank National Association (“U.S. Bank”), and a S#tguAgreement dated March 7, 2011, with U.S. Béhle “Security Agreement”) and
related agreements described in the Loan AgreeamehSecurity Agreement. The A&R Loan Agreementrasisecertain terms from a prior
Loan Agreement between the Registrant and U.S. Batdd May 13, 2010, and is discussed more fullgvibén the Section “Liquidity and
Capital Resources.”

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to our Financial Conditio

If we are unable to maintain our line of credit fadlity with US Bank, we could face a deficiency in or short term cash needs that would
negatively impact our business.

We have secured a line of credit from US Bank éflavs us to borrow up to $20 million. This proe&lus with the ability to access cash
needed to finance certain costs and expenses.eéd¢bber 31, 2010, we had financing availabilit$s®f0 million under this line which was
increased to $20 million by amendment dated Marc20711. We pay fees based on LIBOR plus 1.75%ifgrmonies borrowed under the line
and an unused line fee that ranges from 0% to @&&annum depending on the unused amount. Wdsareemjuired to maintain a fixed

charge coverage ratio of no less than 1.25 to h@8@sured quarterly on a trailing twelve month $asid a leverage ratio of no greater than 2.5
to 1.0 measured quarterly on a trailing twelve rhdrasis. If we are not compliant with the coversabltS Bank may decide to limit our ability
to access the line of credit at any time in itedison. In such event, our short-term cash reguénts may exceed available cash on hand
resulting in material adverse consequences to wsinbss.

Risks Related to our Company and Busine

Because sales in consumer electronic accessories dependent on new products, product development drconsumer acceptance, we
could experience sharp decreases in our sales anebfit margin if we are unable to continually introduce new products and achieve
consumer acceptance.

The consumer and mobile electronics accessory iridsisre subject to constantly and rapidly chamgionsumer preferences based on
performance features and industry trends. Asefitite of this Report, we generated substantifilyf aur sales from our consumer and
mobile electronics accessories business. We cassore you that we will be able to continue toagtloe revenues of our business or maintain
profitability. Our consumer accessories businegsedds, to a large extent, on the introductionaazdability of innovative products and
technologies. Significant sales of our producttniche consumer electronic accessories magket fueled the recent growth of our
business. We believe that our future success ejkdd in large partly upon our ability to enhangeexisting products and to develop,
introduce and market new products and improventerasir existing products.
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However, if we are not able to continually introdugew products that achieve consumer acceptancsatms and profit margins may decline.
Our revenues and profitability will depend on obility to maintain and generate additional custosreard develop new products. A reduction
in demand for our existing products would have semia adverse effect on our business. The sudidityaof current levels of our business ¢
the future growth of such revenues, if any, wilpdad on, among other factors:

the overall performance of the economy and dismnetly consumer spendir
competition within key market:

customer acceptance of newly developed productsamnitces, an

the demand for other products and servi

We cannot assure you that we will maintain or iaseeour current level of revenues or profits frates from the consumer and mobile
electronics accessories business in future periods.

While we are pursuing and will continue to pursuvedpict development opportunities, there can bessarance that such products will comu
fruition or become successful. Furthermore, whiteienber of those products are being tested, weotgmovide any definite date by which
they will be commercially available. We cannot pgdevassurance that these products will prove tcopemercially viable. We may experience
operational problems with such products after consiakintroduction that could delay or defeat thdity of such products to generate reve

or operating profits. Future operational problemsld increase our costs, delay our plans or adyeadt=ct our reputation or our sales of other
products which, in turn, could have a material ase@effect on our success and our ability to satisf obligations. We cannot predict whict
the many possible future products will meet evajviimdustry standards and consumer demands. We tarowde assurance that we will be
able to adapt to such technological changes, sifeh products on a timely basis or establish ontaai a competitive position.

Because we face intense competition, including comition from companies with significantly greater resources than ours, if we are
unable to compete effectively with these companiesur market share may decline and our business calibe harmed.

Our market is highly competitive with numerous catifprs. Some of our competitors may have substintjreater financial, technical,
marketing, and other resources than we possesshwiay afford them competitive advantages overAssa result, our competitors may
introduce products that have advantages over aalugts in terms of features, functionality, easas, and revenue producing potential. 1
may also have more fully developed sales chanoelsohsumer sales including large retail sellearmgements and international distribution
capabilities. In addition, new companies may etitermarkets in which we compete, further increasimmpetition in the consumer electronics
accessories industry. We may not be able to congueteessfully in the future, and increased comipatinay result in price reductions,
reduced profit margins, loss of market share anishapility to generate cash flows that are suffitis® maintain or expand our development
and marketing of new products, which would advgrgabact the trading price of our common shares.

Because we are dependent on third party sources &quire sufficient quantities of raw materials to poduce our products, any
interruption in those relationships could harm ourresults of operations and our revenues.

We acquire substantially all of our raw materidiattwe use in our products from five suppliers. dxdingly, we can give no assurance that:

our supplier relationships will continue as prebeint effect,

our suppliers will not become competitc

our suppliers will be able to obtain the componemsessary to produhigh-quality, technologicall-advanced products for L

we will be able to obtain adequate alternativesuiosupply sources should they be interrup

if obtained, alternatively sourced products of Hatitory quality would be delivered on a timely ibascompetitively pricet
comparably featured or acceptable to our custoraed

- our suppliers have sufficient financial resouraefutfill its obligations.

Our inability to supply sufficient quality and qu#ies of products that are in demand could redugeprofitability and have a material adverse
effect on our relationships with our customersuf supplier relationship was terminated or intpted, we could experience an immediate or
long-term supply shortage, which could have a nedtadverse effect on our business.
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Because we do not develop the technology for ourguucts, the impact of technological advancements ma&ause price erosion and
adversely impact our profitability and inventory value

Because we do not make any of our own productglambt conduct our own research, we cannot assur¢hat we will be able to source
technologically advanced products in order to rentaimpetitive. Furthermore, the introduction orested introduction of new products or
technologies may depress sales of existing produatdechnologies. This may result in decliningg@siand inventory obsolescence. Since we
maintain a substantial investment in product inggntdeclining prices and inventory obsolescenaddcbhave a material adverse effect on our
business and financial results.

Our estimates of excess and obsolete inventorypraye to be inaccurate; in which case the provisemuired for excess and obsolete
inventory may be understated or overstated. Alghone make every effort to ensure the accuracyofarecasts of future product demand,
any significant unanticipated changes in demarnteéahnological developments could have a significapact on the value of our inventory
and operating results.

There can be no guarantee that we will be able toeer into additional complementary industries or tocontinue configure our products
to match new products or devices.

Although we anticipate entering into additional gdementary industries to provide support to ouisibleSHIELD line of products, there can
be no guarantee that we will be successful in coimmgwith such industries. Numerous factors, udahg market acceptance, contract partners
that are acceptable to ZAGG, and general markeeaodomic conditions, could prevent us from pagptiting in these complementary
industries or markets, which could limit our alyilib implement our business strategy.

Similarly, although we intend to continue to config the invisibleSHIELD for new products and desicere can be no guarantee that we

be able to either match the demand for our prodagtsew devices and products are introduced, bpthahasers of such devices and products
will want to purchase our products for use in canio® with them. Any limitation in our ability tmatch demand or gain market acceptance of
our products in connection with new devices andipots could have a material adverse effect on osinless.

If we fail to maintain proper inventory levels, our business could be harmed.

We produce our products prior to the time we rezestomers’ orders. We do this to minimize purtitasosts, the time necessary to fill
customer orders and the risk of non-delivery. Hosvewe may be unable to sell the products we hasdyzed in advance. Inventory levels in
excess of customer demand may result in inventoitgwlowns, and the sale of excess inventory afodisted prices could significantly impair
our brand image and have a material adverse effeotir operating results and financial conditionn@ersely, if we underestimate demand for
our products or if we fail to produce the qualitpgucts that we require at the time we need theenmay experience inventory shortages.
Inventory shortages might delay shipments to custeymegatively impact distributor relationshipsd @iminish brand loyalty.

The products that we protect with the invisibleSHIRtypically have short life cycles. We may bet lefth obsolete inventory if we do not
accurately project the life cycle of different hameld electronic devices. The charges associaitbdreserving for slow-moving or obsolete
inventory as a result of not accurately estimatirgguseful life of hand held electronics could riegdy impact the value of our inventory and
operating results.

Because we are dependent for our success on key@xwe officers, our inability to retain these offcers would impede our business plan
and growth strategies, which would have a negativienpact on our business and the value of your investent.

Our success depends on the skills, experience enficrmance of key members of our management tealudimg Robert G. Pedersen Il, our
CEO, and Brandon T. O'Brien, our CFO. We do notehan employment agreement with Mr. Pedersen olCMBrien. We do not have
employment agreements with any other members o$enior management team. Each of those individuigleout long-term employment
agreements may voluntarily terminate his employmétit the Company at any time upon short noticer&\ee to lose one or more of these
key executive officers, we would be forced to expsignificant time and money in the pursuit of plaeement, which would result in both a
delay in the implementation of our business plaoh the diversion of working capital. We can give yauassurance that we can find
satisfactory replacements for these key execufffieeos at all, or on terms that are not unduly exgive or burdensome to our

company. Although we intend to issue stock optiongther equity-based compensation to attractratadn employees, such incentives may
not be sufficient to attract and retain key pergnn
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One of our retailers accounts for a significant amont of our net sales, and the loss of, or reducedipchases from, this or other retailers
could have a material adverse effect on our operatg results.

Best Buy accounted for 41% of our net sales in 204 do not have long-term contracts with anywfretailers, including Best Buy, and all
of our retailers generally purchase from us onr@lpase order basis. As a result, these retairerglly may, with little or no notice or
penalty, cease ordering and selling our productsjaterially reduce their orders. If certain rietes, including Best Buy, choose to no longer
sell our products, to slow their rate of purchaSeuw products or to decrease the number of predively purchase, our results of operations
would be adversely affected.

We may be adversely affected by the financial contion of our retailers and distributors.

Some of our retailers and distributors have expegd financial difficulties in the past. A retailar distributor experiencing such difficulties
will generally not purchase and sell as many ofpraducts as it would under normal circumstancesmaay cancel orders. In addition, a
retailer or distributor experiencing financial difilties generally increases our exposure to uactiblle receivables. We extend credit to our
retailers and distributors based on our assessofigimeir financial condition, generally without néigng collateral. While such credit losses
have historically been within our estimated resgifee allowances for bad debts, we cannot assurehat this will continue to be the case.
Financial difficulties on the part of our retailensdistributors could have a material adversectid@ our results of operations and financial
condition. As of December 31, 2010, Best Buy aoted for 64% of accounts receivable and Targeesgmted 17% of our outstanding
accounts receivable.

If we falil to attract, train and retain sufficient numbers of our qualified personnel, our prospectshusiness, financial condition and
results of operations will be materially and adversly affected.

Our success depends to a significant degree upoabdlity to attract, retain and motivate skilleadequalified personnel. Failure to attract and
retain necessary technical personnel, sales ankktireg personnel and skilled management could agWeaffect our business. If we fail to
attract, train and retain sufficient numbers okthaighly qualified people, our prospects, businfsancial condition and results of operations
will be materially and adversely affected.

If our products contain defects, our reputation cold be harmed and our results of operations adversglaffected.

Some of our products may contain undetected deflertdo imperfections in the underlying base matetised for our invisibleSHIELD
product line, or manufacturing defects relateduoaudio, charging and other products. The occogai defects or malfunctions could result
in financial losses for our customers and in tmeréased warranty claims from our customers anersiion of our resources. Any of these
occurrences could also result in the loss of caylel market acceptance of our products and losgales.

Because we experience seasonal and quarterly fluetions in demand for our products, no one quarters indicative of our results of
operations for the entire fiscal year.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate quarter to tpraas a result of market acceptance of our pradtioe mix, pricing and presentation of the
products offered and sold, the hiring and trairohgdditional personnel, the timing of inventoryiterdowns, the cost of materials, the
incurrence of other operating costs and factor®@beéyur control, such as general economic conditand actions of competitors. We are also
affected by seasonal buying cycles of consumerdy aa the holiday season, and the introductioropifar consumer electronics, such as a
new introduction of products from Apple CorporatioAccordingly, the results of operations in anyadar will not necessarily be indicative of
the results that may be achieved for a full figesr or any future quarter.

Because we have limited protection on the intellegal property underlying our products, we may not beable to protect our products
from the infringement of others and may be prevented from marketing our products.

We do not own proprietary rights with respect te tim we use in our products. We have a patentpenwith respect to the covering of
electronic devices with clear protective films.dadition, we own and keep confidential the desigmfigurations of the film and the product
designs which are our copyrights. We seek to ptatecintellectual property rights through confidiafity agreements with our employees,
consultants and partners. However, no assuranckecgiven that such measures will be sufficiergratect our intellectual property rights or
that the intellectual property rights that we have sufficient to protect other persons from creptind marketing substantially similar
products. If we cannot protect our rights, we ma@selour competitive advantage. Moreover, if itégetimined that our products infringe on the
intellectual property rights of third parties, wayrbe prevented from marketing our products.

Any claims relating to the infringement of thirdspaproprietary rights, even if not meritoriousutd result in costly litigation, divert
management’s attention and resources, or requite eisher enter into royalty or license agreemeavitech are not advantageous to us or pay
material amounts of damages. In addition, partiaking these claims may be able to obtain an injancwhich could prevent us from selling
our products.
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The current economy is affecting consumer spendingatterns, which could adversely affect our business

Consumer spending patterns, especially discretyosaending for products such as mobile, consumegraanessory electronics, are affected
among other things, prevailing economic conditi@rergy costs, raw material costs, wage ratestiofl, interest rates, consumer debt
consumer confidence and consumer perception ofossimnconditions. A general slowdown in the U.S. aedain international economies or
an uncertain economic outlook could have a matadsérse effect on our sales and operating results.

The recent disruptions in the national and intéomat economies and financial markets and theedlatcreases in unemployment are
depressing consumer confidence and spending. lif smaditions persist, consumer spending will likegcline further and this would have an
adverse effect on our business and our resultpafations.

If we are unable to effectively manage our growthour operating results and financial condition willbe adversely affected.

We intend to grow our business by expanding owssaldministrative and marketing organizations. growth in or expansion of our busin

is likely to continue to place a strain on our nggraent and administrative resources, infrastruauacesystems. As with other growing
businesses, we expect that we will need to refimkeexpand our business development capabilitiessymiems and processes and our access t
financing sources. We also will need to hire, traimpervise and manage new employees. These pescaestime consuming and expensive,
will increase management responsibilities and eiitert management attention. We cannot assurehatuste will be able to:

expand our systems effectively or efficiently omitimely manner

allocate our human resources optima

meet our capital need

identify and hire qualified employees or retainued employees; ¢

incorporate effectively the components of any bessnor product line that we may acquire in ourretfpachieve growtr

Our inability or failure to manage our growth angbansion effectively could harm our business antenelly and adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition.

For example, we have a variable interest in Hz®, (fHzQ”) for which we are the primary beneficieapd therefore consolidate the operations
of HzO. We anticipate having sales associated thighHzO technology beginning in 2011, but thene lsa no guarantee that such sales will
occur in 2011 or ever. Factors such as delaysweldpment of the technology, increased researdtdanelopment costs, and market
acceptance of the technology could cause a delsglés associated with the HzO technology, whialidccbave a material adverse effect on
business and implementation of our business plan.

If our competitors misappropriate our proprietary k now-how and trade secrets, it could have a materiadverse affect on our business.

We depend heavily on the expertise of our prodadg@am. If any of our competitors copies or otheeagains access to similar products
independently, we might not be able to competeffastevely. The measures we take to protect ouighssmay not be adequate to prevent their
unauthorized use. Further, the laws of foreign toes may provide inadequate protection of sucélliectual property rights. We may need to
bring legal claims to enforce or protect such ietgtlal property rights. Any litigation, whethercsessful or unsuccessful, could result in
substantial costs and diversions of resourcesdditian, notwithstanding the rights we have secureaur intellectual property, other persons
may bring claims against us that we have infringedheir intellectual property rights or claimsttbar intellectual property right interests are
not valid. Any claims against us, with or withouérit, could be time consuming and costly to defentitigate and therefore could have an
adverse affect on our business.

If any of our facilities were to experience catastiphic loss, our operations would be seriously harnte

Our facilities could be subject to a catastropbgaslfrom fire, flood, earthquake or terrorist aityivAll of our activities, including sales and
marketing, customer service, finance and otheicatibusiness operations are in one location. r@amufacturing activities are conducted at
other facilities separate from our corporate headgus. Any catastrophic loss at these facilitiesld disrupt our operations, delay production,
and revenue and result in large expenses to repadplace the facility. While we have obtaineslurance to cover most potential losses, we
cannot assure you that our existing insurance egeewill be adequate against all other possibleces

If our internal control over financial reporting is not considered effective, our business and stockipe could be adversely affected.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguils to evaluate the effectiveness of our intematrols over financial reporting as of the
end of each fiscal year, and to include a manageregnrt assessing the effectiveness of internatrobover financial reporting in our annual
report on Form 10-K for that fiscal year. A matevi@akness in our internal controls over financggdorting would require management to
assess our internal control over financial repgrtis ineffective. If our internal controls overdircial reporting are not considered effective, we
may experience a loss of public confidence, whimhldt have an adverse effect on our business anldeomarket price of our common stock.

14




Because we distribute products internationally, eawomic, political and other risks associated with ouinternational sales and operation
could adversely affect our operating results.

Since we sell our products worldwide, our busiriesaibject to risks associated with doing busimetgsnationally. Our sales to customers
outside the United States accounted for approxima®% of our revenue from continuing operationdisgal 2010. Accordingly, our future
results could be harmed by a variety of factorsluiding:

changes in foreign currency exchange re

exchange control:

changes in regulatory requiremer

changes in a specific country's or region's pa@litar economic condition:

tariffs, other trade protection measures and impoexport licensing requiremen
potentially negative consequences from changesxiteivs or application of such tax lav
difficulty in staffing and managing widespread cémns;

changing labor regulation

requirements relating to withholding taxes on résmites and other payments by subsidia
different regimes controlling the protection of antellectual property

restrictions on our ability to own or operate sdimies, make investments or acquire new busingsgbsse jurisdictions; ar
restrictions on our ability to repatriate dividerfdsm our subsidiaries

Our international operations are affected by glazainomic and political conditions. Changes innetoic or political conditions in any of the
countries in which we operate could result in exgearate movement, new currency or exchange cerradther restrictions being imposec
our operations.

There can be no guarantee that additional amountggnt on marketing or advertising will result in additional sales or revenue to the
Company.

In 2011, management intends to expand our advegtand to continue its marketing efforts relatiogxisting products and potential new
product introductions. However, there can be nargotee that such increased advertising or markefiiorts and strategies will result in
increased sales to us.

Risks Related to the Compa's Securities

Because the price of our common stock has been, anhy continue to be, volatile, our shareholders magot be able to resell shares
our common stock at or above the price paid for sutshares.

The price for shares of our common stock has etedhiigh levels of volatility with significant vatoe and price fluctuations, which makes our
common stock unsuitable for many investors. FongXa, for the two years ended December 31, 20¥0¢ltising price of our common stock
ranged from a high of $8.72 to a low of $0.90 gears. At times, the fluctuations in the price of oammon stock may have been unrelated to
our operating performance. These broad fluctuatinag negatively impact the market price of shafesuo common stock. The price of our
common stock may also have been influenced by:

fluctuations in our results of operations or thermions of our competitors or custome

the aggregate amount of our outstanding debt arckptons about our ability to make debt servicgnpents;

failure of our results of operations and salesmees to meet the expectations of stock market atsa@nd investor:
reductions in demand or expectations regardingdéutemand by our custome

changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorssdemy us, our competitors or our custom

the timing and announcements of technological imtions, new products or financial results by usurcompetitors
increases in the number of shares of our commark stotstanding; an

changes in our industr

Based on the above, we expect that our stock priiteontinue to be extremely volatile. Therefoveg cannot guarantee that our investors will
be able to resell our common stock at or abovetiee at which they purchased it.
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Because we may, at some time in the future, issuéditional securities, shareholders are subject toitlition of their ownership.

Although we have no immediate plans to raise aulkti capital, we may at some time in the futuresdoAny such issuance would likely dilt
shareholders’ ownership interest in our companyraag have an adverse impact on the price of ounoamstock. In addition, from time to
time we may issue shares of common stock in cororeatith equity financing activities or as incergs/to our officers and business partners.
We may expand the number of shares available wsidek incentive and option plans, or create newlall issuances of common stock
would be dilutive to your holdings in our compalfyyour holdings are diluted, the overall valueyolur shares may be diminished and your
ability to influence shareholder voting will alse harmed.

If our common stock fails to meet the listing requiements of NASDAQ and is delisted from trading onlte NASDAQ, the market price
of our common stock could be adversely affected.

Our common stock is currently listed on the NASD&@bal Select Market under the symbol “ZAGG.” ThASDAQ's listing requirements
include a requirement that, for continued listiag,issuer's common shares trade at a minimum lxée pf $1.00 per share. This requirement is
deemed breached when the bid price of an issuension shares closes below $1.00 per share fori@ecative trading days. Our stock is
not currently trading at below $1.00, and closefi7a62 at December 31, 2010. If we were to traglev $1.00 for 30 consecutive days, we
could transfer our stock listing to the NASDAQ GapMarket following receipt of a notice of delistj and receive an additional six month
grace period to regain compliance, take certaieradigtions to increase our stock price prior tmelelisted from NASDAQ, or otherwise
challenge any action by NASDAQ to delist our comnstock. There can be no assurance that any of #iet®ons would be successful in
maintaining our listing on NASDAQ or the trading ket for our stock. A delisting of our common dtdmom the NASDAQ or a transfer to
the Capital Market tier of NASDAQ could adverseffeat the liquidity of the trading market for ouosk and therefore the market price of our
common stock.

Limitations on director and officer liability and i ndemnification of our officers and directors by usmay discourage stockholders from
bringing suit against a director.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws providéhveertain exceptions as permitted by governigestaw, that a director or officer shall not
be personally liable to us or our stockholdershi@ach of fiduciary duty as a director, exceptdots or omissions which involve intentional
misconduct, fraud or knowing violation of law, arlawful payments of dividends. These provisions m&gourage stockholders from bring
suit against a director for breach of fiduciaryydahd may reduce the likelihood of derivative Eiigpn brought by stockholders on our behalf
against a director. In addition, our articles afdrporation and bylaws may provide for mandatodeimnification of directors and officers to
the fullest extent permitted by governing state.law

Because we do not expect to pay dividends for theréseeable future, investors seeking cash dividendsould not purchase our commo
stock.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsupport the development and expansion of ounkasiand do not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Our paymerinyffuture dividends will be at the discretionoofr board of directors after taking into
account various factors, including but not limitedbur financial condition, operating results, cagleds, growth plans and the terms of any
credit agreements that we may be a party to dirtie In addition, our ability to pay dividends oar common stock may be limited by state
law. Accordingly, investors must rely on saleshdit Common Stock after price appreciation, whichymever occur, as the only way to
realize their investment.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer own or control at least 20% of our outstandingcommon stock, which may limit
your ability and the ability of our other stockholders, whether acting alone or together, to proposer direct the management or overall
direction of our company. Additionally, this concenration of ownership could discourage or prevent gotential takeover of our
Company that might otherwise result in shareholderseceiving a premium over the market price for ourshares.

We estimate that approximately 20% of our outstagmdhares of common stock are owned and contrbifezir Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer. Such concentratedtoarof our company may adversely affect the pd€eur common stock. Our principal
stockholders may be able to control matters regiaipproval by our stockholders, including the #decof directors, mergers or other busin
combinations. Such concentrated control may alakenit difficult for our stockholders to receivgpgemium for their shares of our common
stock in the event we merge with a third partymteeinto different transactions which require &toader approval. These provisions could
also limit the price that investors might be wigito pay in the future for shares of our commomwlstéccordingly, the existing principal
stockholders together with our directors and exeeudfficers will have the power to control thealen of our directors and the approval of
actions for which the approval of our stockholdsreequired. If you acquire shares, you may haveffective voice in the management of the
Company.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Real Property

Our principal executive offices facilities are amtly located in 31,000 square feet of office arslehouse space located at 3855 South 500
West, Suites B, C, J, K, L, M, O and R, Salt Lakiy GJtah 84115. In August 2010, we signed a nrdstese agreement covering all of the
suites that expires June 30, 2014, at a straigétrfionthly lease rate of $17,800. We also lea$eedhcilities located in 1,500 square feet of
office space located at 470 North University AverRimvo, Utah. In June 2009, we signed a leaseeaggnt that expired June 14, 2010 at a
monthly lease rate of $1,500, which we maintairaononth to month basis. We believe these fadilitiee adequate for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our wholly owned subsidiary, ZAGG Intellectual Peoty Holding Company, Inc., is engaged as the fiffin patent infringement litigation
pending in California and in Utah that seeks tamesd rights under United States Patent No. 7,784 ,@8he defendants in these cases have
raised defenses and, in some cases, asserted roteines against ZAGG Intellectual Property Holdi@gmpany, Inc. that seek declarations of
unenforceability or non-infringement of the patefihese counterclaims do not assert any claimaffomative relief apart from a request for
an award of costs and attorney’s fees to the pierggiarty. There are no claims asserted in tlaesiens against us. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate disposition of these patéingement claims, including disposition of tbeunterclaims, will not have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial posijtresults of operations, or liquidity.

We are not a party to any litigation or other clgiat this time. However, from time to time we nt@gcome subject to lawsuits and other cle
in the ordinary course of business. Such mattersabject to many uncertainties, and most outcamesot predictable with assurance.

ITEM 4. [REMOVED AND RESERVED.]
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is currently quoted on The NASD&Qbal Market of The NASDAQ Market under the symBalGG. The following

table sets forth, for each full quarterly periodhin the two most recent fiscal years, the high lamdsales prices (in dollars per share) of our
common stock as reported or quoted on The NASDAQIit@laMarket.

2009 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 200¢ $ 23 $ 0.8t
June 30, 200 $ 7.4 $ 1.7¢
September 30, 20( $ 791 $ 4.51
December 31, 200 $ 7.0C $ 3.4t

2010 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201( $ 40C $ 2.01
June 30, 201 $ 332 $ 1.9C
September 30, 201 $ 5.01 $ 2.4:
December 31, 201 $ 9.1t $ 4.6C

Holders of Common stock

At February 28, 2011, there were approximatelyedfistered holders or persons otherwise entitldwtd our common shares pursuant to a
shareholders’ list provided by our transfer agempire Stock Transfer. The number of registeretediolders excludes any estimate by us of
the number of beneficial owners of common sharés inestreet name.

Dividends

There are no restrictions in our articles of in@wgtion or bylaws that restrict us from declaringdends. The Nevada Revised Statutes,
however, do prohibit us from declaring dividendsendy after giving effect to the distribution of ttieidend:

- we would not be able to pay our debts as they beadune in the usual course of busines:

. our total assets would be less than the sum oftatat liabilities, plus the amount that would beeded to satisfy the rights
shareholders who have preferential rights supésithose receiving the distributic

We have not declared or paid cash dividends ortonmmon stock since our inception, and our BoarDiodctors currently intends to retain all

earnings for use in the business for the foresedahlre. Any future payment or dividends to hotédef common stock will depend upon our
results of operations, financial condition, casljuieements, and other factors deemed relevant bBoard of Directors.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
Number of future
securities to Weighted- issuances
be issued average under equity
upon exercist  exercise price compensatiot
of of plans
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants and warrants and  reflected in
Plan Category rights rights first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrg| 3,664,89. $ 2.31 1,492,79:
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgers - - -
Total 3,664,89. $ 2.3i 1,492,79.

On November 13, 2007, the Board of Directors adbfite ZAGG Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive Ptae (2007 Incentive Plan”) wherein
we may issue an aggregate of 2,000,000 optionartthpse shares of our common stock or shares afomamon stock. On July 16, 2009, the
Company’s shareholders approved an amendment 200i&Incentive Plan to increase the number ofeshigsuable under the 2007 Incentive
Plan to 5,000,000. As of December 31, 2010, thene 1,492,793 shares available for grant unde2®0& Incentive Plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we isteetbllowing securities:

We issued 20,000 shares of common stock to empoyaeed at $42,200.

We also issued 892,041 stock options as showreitathle below:

Options Exercise Price at Risk Free
Granted Date Granted Price Grant Date ExpectedLife Volatility* Rate Fair Value
771,50( 2/5/201( $ 25 % 2.5¢ 3.5 year: 96.21% 1.28% $ 1,249,21!
1,00( 2/22/201( $ 261 $ 2.61 3.5 years 95.82% 1.48% $ 1,66¢
3,00( 4/12/201( $ 29 $ 2.9¢ 3.5 year: 94.9% 1.65% $ 5,651
3,00( 4/30/201( $ 304 $ 3.04 3.5 year: 94.1% 1.51% $ 5,76(
1,00C 5/3/201( $ 3.0: $ 3.0¢ 3.5 years 94.2(% 1.5¢% $ 1,91¢
1,00( 7/19/201( $ 274 $ 2.74 3.5 years 94.7% 0.95% $ 1,72¢
10,00( 8/16/201( $ 33 % 3.3t 3.5 year: 93.3%% 0.7¢% $ 20,85
92,54: 10/13/2011 $ 51 $ 5.1¢ 3.5 years 93.1%% 0.5% $ 294,67:
6,00( 11/1/201( $ 73C $ 7.3C 3.5 years 95.09% 0.5(% $ 27,56(
3,00( 11/8/201( $ 82(C $ 8.2C 3.5 year: 94.9(% 0.5¢% $ 15,47"

* Expected volatility is calculated by weighting tBempan'’s historical stock price to calculate expected tldlaover the expected term «
each grant. As the Company’s historical stock phis¢ory does not cover the entire expected texpeeted volatility is also weighted
based on the average historical volatility of saniééntities with publicly traded shares over thpeeted term of each grai

We also issued warrants for consulting serviced @8,000 common shares exercisable at $2.58 peg slpiring in 5 years and vesting
equally over 1 year. Each vesting tranche of taerants was independently valued using the Bacheles options pricing model with sepa
assumptions for each tranche based on the faiewaflour common stock on each vesting date, expgeeten equal to the remaining contrac
term on each vesting date, expected volatility Weid between our historical volatility and the aggr historical volatility of similar entities
with publicly traded shares over the expected temeach vesting date, and riflee rate for the expected term based on the UeasTry yiel
curve in effect with a period that approximatesrémmaining contractual term for reach vesting d&ter the year ended December 31, 201(
recorded expense of $292,933 for these warrants.

We also issued warrants for 250,000 common shaegsisable at $8.53 per share expiring in 5 yeadsv@sting immediately to Andrew
Mason as part of the acquisition of intangible tsssé/Ne also issued 70,000 shares of our resdrimdenmon stock in connection with the
acquisition of the intangible assets. These wasrant shares of our restricted common stock wduedat $1,605,03&hich is included in tt
value of the intangible assets acquired.

We also issued 524,301 shares of common stockercise of options to purchase 524,301 shares thouighe year. We received proceed
$710,277.
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We also issued 1,599,600 shares of common stoekercise of warrants to purchase 1,599,600 shakésreceived proceeds of $2,079,480
related to the exercise of the warrants.

The securities described above were issued intefivaegotiated transactions and other privaterioffs pursuant to Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and regulapoomulgated thereunder.

Stock Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related infotima shall not be deemed "soliciting material” diléd" with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, nor shall such information be incorgedaby reference into any future filing under tlee@ities Act of 1933 or Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except Extent we specifically incorporate it by referemto such filing

The following graph compares the cumulative tokelreholder return on our common stock over theethrel ¥ year period (the Company’s
common stock began trading on July 25, 2007) el mber 31, 2010, with the cumulative total retluring such period of the NASDAQ
Stock Market (U.S. Companies) and a peer groupxicdenposed of consumer electronics accessory caggpahe members of which are
identified below (the “Peer Group”) for the sameipé. The following graph assumes an initial invesnt of $100.00 with dividends
reinvested. The stock performance shown on thehgoafow represents historical stock performanceisungdt necessarily indicative of future
stock price performance.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
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—8— ZAGG Inc —&— Hussall 3000 Index —d— PoaarGroup  ---¥--- NASDAQ Composite

The Peer Group consists of consumer electroniossaocy companies that have securities traded oNakdaq Stock Market. The members of
the Peer Group are: iGo, Inc., Plantronics Incm@co, Inc., Logitech International, S.A., and Unisal Electronics Inc.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers

Maximum Number (or
Total Number of SharesApproximate Dollar Value)
(or Units) Purchased as of Shares (or Units) that

Total Number of Shares Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased

(or Units) Purchased Average Price Paid per Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
Month #1 (October 201( — — — —
Month #2 (November 201( — — — —
Month #3 (December 201! — — — —
Total — — — —
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected historical financial data presentéovbare derived from our consolidated financiatestaents. The selected financial data should
be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Managementisddission and Analysis of Financial Condition aresits of Operations,” and our
consolidated financial statements and the notestihéncluded elsewhere in this report.

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
DATA:
Net sales $ 76,135,02 $ 38,361,74 $ 19,791,60 $ 513571 $ 2,777,03
Operating income (los: 16,813,42 5,710,05. 2,378,94! (1,237,550 (224,619
Net income (loss) attributable to stockhold 9,963,07. 3,381,42! 2,098,96. (759,51) (141,25)
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to stocldrst

Basic $ 044 $ 0.1¢ $ 011 $ (0.05 $ (0.0

Diluted 0.41 0.1% 0.11 (0.05) (0.0))
Weighted average share

Basic 22,518,44 20,633,81 18,971,39 16,139,17 10,052,80

Diluted 24,262,49 22,989,03 19,265,22 16,139,17 10,052,80
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total asset $ 57,432,06 $ 18,898,48 $ 8,45491' $ 3,724,13' $ 1,027,25
Current assel 46,704,75 17,435,30 7,843,571 3,318,61 791,32(
Current liabilities 23,089,67 5,011,51 2,638,18 803,78t 870,79:
Total equity 32,780,92 13,886,96 5,816,72 3,364,46! 144,37
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

Certain statements, other than purely historicirmation, including estimates, projections, stagata relating to our business plans,
objectives, and expected operating results, andg¢eemptions upon which those statements are basetforward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the Private Securities LitigatioridRe Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities AEt1933 and Section 21E of the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statetsigenerally are identified by the words “beligVégroject,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“estimates,” forecasts,” “intends,” “strategy,” §ul,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will conti nue,” “will likely result,” and similar
expressions. Additionally, statements relatingiplementation of business strategy, future findmeaformance, acquisition strategies, cay
raising transactions, performance of contractuiigabons, and similar statements may contain fodalaoking statements. We intend such
forward-looking statements to be covered by the-bafrbor provisions for forward-looking statemestatained in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and are includingstistatement for purposes of complying with thasfe-garbor provisions. Forward-looking
statements are based on current expectations anthpgons that are subject to risks and uncer&smihich may cause actual results to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements. @bility to predict results or the actual effectfature plans or strategies is inherently
uncertain. Factors which could have a material esttvaffect on our operations and future prospeatts consolidated basis include, but are not
limited to: changes in economic conditions, ledisiregulatory changes, availability of capitaltgrest rates, competition, and generally
accepted accounting principles. These risks agdrtminties should also be considered in evaludtingard-looking statements and undue
reliance should not be placed on such statemergseXfifressly disclaim any obligation to update @isepublicly any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafignre events or otherwise. Further informationaerning our business, including additic
factors that could materially affect our finandiesults, is included herein and in our other fifingth the SEC.
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Overview

ZAGG Incorporated designs, and distributes proteatiear coverings and accessories for consumetrehéc and hand-held devices
worldwide under the brand names invisibleSHIELD @AdsGaudio. We also sell our current lines of asoey items, including our brands
ZAGGskins™, ZAGG LEATHERskins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsp&f, and ZAGGmate™ product lines to our customersugh our websit

at www.ZAGG.comand through our retail distribution channels ad wWi¢ie invisibleSHIELD is a protective, high-techtpnted film covering,
designed for smartphones, tablet computers, iRaptps, cell phones, digital cameras, PDAs, wédchs, GPS systems, gaming devices, anc
other items. The patent-pending invisibleSHIEL plagation of clear protective film covering a dewis the first scratch protection solution of
its kind on the market, and has sold millions otainCurrently, ZAGG offers over 5,000 precisiaezut designs with a lifetime replacement
warranty through www.ZAGG.commajor retailers like Best Buy, AT&T, Target, Veon, Radio Shack, Staples and Cricket; independent
electronics resellers; college bookstores; indepehiflac stores; mall kiosks, and other online tetsi During 2010, we had one customer
accounted for more than 10% of our net sales. cbingpany continues to increase its product linesffer additional electronic accessories and
services to its tech-savvy customer base.

To recap our results for 2010:

« Our revenue grew 98% from $38.4 million in 200%#6.1 million in 2010.

« Our sales growth in 2010 was the result of stroagahd from customers in our indirect channel catedae to the addition of ne
distribution partners and the continued consumeptidn of our invisibleSHIELD product line. Ourlea through our webs
www.ZAGG.comand through our mall kiosk program also increasedhsolute dollars over 2009, but decreased ascameage ¢
overall sales due to the significant sales in tidéréct channel. We also realized growth from mpeaducts including the ZAGG Sp:
and ZAGGmate

o Our full year 2010 operating income increased b4%490 $16.8 million from $5.7 million in 2009. Ouwperating margin percentz
increased from 14.9% in 2009 to 22.1% in 2010 dedpie decrease in our gross margin percentage 5mb% in 2009 to 49.1%
2010. The decrease in gross margin rate was doarly to sales mix shift, as a higher percentafjeur total sales was comprisec
our lowe-margin indirect channel sale

« Our full year 2010 fully diluted earnings per shaté&ibutable to stockholders increased by 173% @399, while the number
shares used in the fully diluted earnings per shaleulation increased by 6% during the same pe

Our strategic business objectives for 2011 inclingefollowing:
« Continue to expand the distribution of our produbteugh additional indirect channel partners;

« Focus on our international sales opportunities ugho our distribution facility in Ireland that wiknable us to better serve
customers in Western Eurof

« increase our SKUs with our existing customers;

« continue to grow our traffic and sales through website www.ZAGG.com and

« continue to develop new products to introduce totect-savvy customer bas

We intend for the following discussion of our firtdel condition and results of operations to provigfermation that will assist in

understanding our consolidated financial stateménéschanges in certain key items in those fireratatements from period to period, and the
primary factors that accounted for those changesedl as how certain accounting principles, pebcand estimates affect our consolidated
financial statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based on oundiadstatements, which have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generatigepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). Theanation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments tfestt éifie reported amounts of assets, liabilitieggenues and expenses, and related disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. On an omgdiasis, we evaluate our estimates based onibatexperience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable timeleircumstances, the results of which formtthsis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities thatravereadily apparent from other sources. Actusiliits may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. Significastirates include the allowance for doubtful acceumventory valuation allowances, sales
returns and warranty liability, the useful lifemoperty and equipment, stock-based compensatipense and income taxes.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical ifeétjuires an accounting estimate to be made basedsumptions about matters that are hi
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, iedéiit estimates reasonably may have been usdd;hariges in the estimate that are reasonably
likely to occur may materially impact the financ&htements. Management believes the followinirafiaccounting policies affect our more
significant judgments and estimates used in thpgregion of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognitiol

We record revenue when persuasive evidence ofrangegment exists, product delivery has occurrezisétes price to the customer is fixed or
determinable, and collectability is reasonably es$u Our revenue is derived from sales of our petglithrough our indirect channel including
retailers and distributors and through our dirdetrmel including www.ZAGG.corand our corporate owned and third-party-owned mall
kiosks, and from the fees derived from the salexatusive independent distributor licenses relatetthe kiosk program. For sales of product,
our standard shipping terms are FOB shipping peniigt we record revenue when the product is shippetdhf estimated returns and

discounts. For some customers, the contractuppsty terms are FOB destination, for these shipsjeme record revenue when the product is
delivered, net of estimated returns and discouRts. license fees, we recognize revenue on a btréiige basis over the life of the license term.

Promotional products given to customers or poténtiatomers are recognized as a cost of sales. iGeshtives provided to our customers are
recognized as a reduction of the related sale jpaite, therefore, are a reduction in sales.

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabil

For product sales, the Company records revenuafmstimated returns and discounts, when produretshipped and the customer takes
ownership and assumes risk of loss, collectiomefrelevant receivable is probable, persuasiveeeciel of an arrangement exists and the sales
price is fixed or determinable. Our return poligngrally allows its end users and retailers torrepuirchased products for refund or in
exchange for new products within 45 days of end paechase. In addition, the Company generallyiples the ultimate consumer a warranty
with each product. Due to the nature of the imlé&$HIELD product line, returns are generally ralvageable and are not included in
inventory. We estimate a reserve for sales retanaswarranty and record the estimated reserve ainasua reduction of sales and as a sales
return reserve liability. The estimate for salettims and warranty requires management to makéisant estimates regarding return rates for
sales and warranty returns. Historical experieacwjal claims, and customer return rights arekéyefactors used in determining the estimated
sales return and warranty reserve.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We provide customary credit terms to our customafes perform ongoing credit evaluations of the ficiahcondition of our customers and
maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts bageshthistorical collections experience and judgmestto expected collectability of
accounts. Our actual bad debts may differ fromestimates.

Inventories

In assessing the realization of inventories, weregeired to make judgments as to future demandgine@gents and to compare these with
current inventory levels. When the market valuewéntory is less than the carrying value, the imtgey cost is written down to the estimated
net realizable value thereby establishing a newlwasis. Our inventory requirements may changediaeseur projected customer demand,
market conditions, technological and product lijele changes, longer or shorter than expected ysageds, and other factors that could ai
the valuation of our inventories.

23




Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets are reviewed for reatiléy, and valuation allowances are provided, whecessary, to reduce deferred income
tax assets to the amounts that are more likely tioao be realized based on our estimate of futuable income. Should our expectations of
taxable income change in future periods, it mapdeessary to establish a valuation allowance, wtacid affect our results of operations in
the period such a determination is made. We reiomame tax provision or benefit during interim @el$ at a rate that is based on expected
results for the full year. If future changes in ketrconditions cause actual results for the yedetmore or less favorable than those expected,
adjustments to the effective income tax rate cteldequired.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taitipos only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained. Recognized
income tax positions are measured at the largestuatihat is greater than 50% likely of being rsadi. The determination of the realization of
certain income tax positions is subject to sigaificestimates based upon the facts and circumstafi@ach position.

Long-lived Assets

We have significant long-lived tangible and intdigiassets consisting of property, plant and egeigrand

definite-lived intangibles. We review these as$etsmpairment whenever events or changes in cigtantes indicate that the carrying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable. When imdgaf impairment exist related to our long livaddible assets and definite-lived intangible
assets, we use an estimate of the undiscountezhsietflows in measuring whether the carrying amotitite assets is

recoverable. Measurement of the amount of impaitpikany, is based upon the difference betweeresfset’s carrying value and estimated
fair value. Fair value is determined through vasiealuation techniques, including market and incameroaches as considered necessary
which involves judgment related to future cash 8cand the application of the appropriate valuetimdel. If forecasts and assumptions used
to support the realizability of our long-lived assehange in the future, significant impairmentrgea could result that would adversely affect
our results of operations and financial condition.

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@neepn its consolidated financial statements faards granted to employees and non-
employees under its stock incentive plan, whicluitde restricted stock and stock options. Equibssified awards are measured at the grant
date fair value of the award. The fair value otktoptions is measured on the grant date usingléek-Scholes option pricing model (BSM),
which involves the use of assumptions such as ¢ggelatility, expected term, dividend rate, arsikffree rate. Volatility is a key factor us
to determine the fair value of stock options in B®M. The Company does not have sufficient histirilata or implied volatility information
to determine volatility based upon its own inforinat Therefore the Company uses significant judgnte identify a peer group and deterrr
the appropriate weighting in order to estimate latidy rate for use in the BSM.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our results of ofienas expressed as a percentage of net salesefpettiods indicated (amounts in thousands).

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Net sales $ 76,13¢ 100.% $ 38,36: 100.(% $ 19,79: 100.(%
Cost of sale: 38,73¢ 50.¢ 16,30¢ 42.F 6,594 33.c
Gross profil 37,391 49.1 22,05: 57.t 13,19¢ 66.7
Advertising and marketin 5,06 6.7 5,84¢ 15.2 3,97¢ 20.1
Selling, general and administrative 15,51¢ 20.4 10,49 27.4 6,84 34.€
Operating incomi 16,81: 22.1 5,71C 14.¢ 2,37¢ 12.C
Interest expens (2439) (0.3 (231 (0.2) (6) (0.0
Interest and other incon 7 0.C 34 0.C 227 1.1
Income before income tax 16,57: 21.¢ 5,51: 14.£ 2,60(C 13.1
(Provision) benefit for income tax (6,650) (8.7) (2,132 (5.€) (507) (2.5)
Net income 9,92¢ 13.C 3,381 8.8 2,09¢ 10.€
Net loss attributable to noncontrollil

interest 35 0.C — — — —
Net income attributable to stockhold: $ 9,96: 13.(% $ 3,381 8.8% $ 2,09¢ 10.€%

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AS COMPARED TO THE YERAENDED DECMEBER 31, 2009 (all numbers in thousands
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2010 $7&d 35 compared to net sales of $38,362 for ¢ae gnded December 31, 2009,
increase of $37,773 or 98%.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, sales dfeisibleSHIELD product line accounted for approxsitaly 91% of our revenues. We have
experienced significant growth in our indirect chahto Big Box retailers like Best Buy, Target dRadio Shack, wireless carriers like AT&T,
Verizon, The Carphone Warehouse and Cricket, atid dmmestic and foreign electronics accessoryidigtrs. We are still focused on
distribution through our mall kiosk program andatigh our website www.ZAGG.conbut the significant growth for 2010 was throughr o
indirect channel as we began selling through amfttiti customers and expanded our SKU count in ouecticustomers. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, approximately 73% of our overatlsales were through our indirect channel, 18% through our website, 7% was
through our mall cart and kiosk programs and 2% fr@s shipping and handling charges.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, packing neseand shipping and fulfillment costs. For tleayended December 31, 2010, cost of sales
amounted to $38,738 or approximately 51% of netssabmpared to cost of sales of $16,309 or 43%$ales for the year ended December
31, 2009. The increase in cost of sales as a pr@e of net revenues for the year ended Decenih@03 0, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2009, is attributable to the impaitneémventory of $1,511 charged to cost of saled #he overall sales mix shift to wholesale
customers which have a lower average selling ghiaa our internet sales which have historicallyrespnted a larger percentage of the total
sales and increased costs due to the payment eflgd shipping costs related to some of our raverias for our invisibleSHIELD product
line and expedited shipping for our ZAGGmate anda3A\Sparq product lines.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2049 $87,397 or approximately 49% of net sales agpeaoed to $22,053 or approximately
57% of net sales for the year ended December 3B.20he decrease in gross profit percentage igaltree impairment of inventory of $1,511
charged to cost of sales and due to the saleshiftfr®m direct internet sales to indirect custamehich have a lower average selling price
and increased costs of expediting raw materiadgedIto our invisibleSHIELD product line and our @&mate and ZAGGsparq product
lines. As we continue to grow our business, weé lvéle increased sales to our indirect customefishwilill continue to put pressure on our
gross profit margins. There are no assurancesuiatill continue to recognize similar gross prafiargins in the future.

25




Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&x3D, were $20,584, an increase of $4,241 frdal tperating expenses for year ended
December 31, 2009, of $16,343. The increasesramaply attributable to the following:

» For the year ended December 31, 2010, salariesrelatbd taxes increased by $2,241 to $6,389 frori4®4for the year end
December 31, 2009, which includes $993 in experedaged to the issuance of common stock and optmosir employees. We he
added additional staff during 2010 to accommodatecontinued growtt

« For the year ended December 31, 2010, marketinggraising and promotion expenses were $5,067, eedse of $779, as compa
to $5,846, for the year ended December 31, 2008st Mf our expenses related to marketing, advedisind promotions are sp
online. We continue to invest heavily in the deypehent of the invisibleSHIELD and ZAGG brands thgbuinternet key wot
advertising, traditional print media, televisiondaradio advertising. We expect our marketing athgedising expenses to continue
be a material expenditure as our revenues incraadexpect to spend increased funds on advertsidgoromotion of our products
well as sales training. During fiscal 2011, wesimd to continue to expand our marketing effortatesl to our existing products and
our new product introduction

« For the year ended December 31, 2010, other seljegeral and administrative expenses, net ofisaland related taxes descri
above, were $9,128 compared to $6,349 for the gaded December 31, 2009. The overall increasdherselling, general a
administrative expenses is attributable to theofeihg factors. Commissions paid to online affgéistand manufacturer'reps c
$1,751, legal and accounting expenses of $1,188¢erense of $911, credit card and bank fees b

Income from operation:

We reported income from operations of $16,813lieryear ended December 31, 2010, compared to infremeoperations of $5,710 for the
year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $3.1,e increased income from operations for the gyaded December 31, 2010,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009nswply attributable to the overall increase in sates of our invisibleSHIELD product line
and other consumer electronics accessory linesalhaoffset by a decrease in gross profit witle $ales mix shift toward the indirect channel.

Other income

For the year ended December 31, 2010, total otheeresse was $236 compared to other expense of ¥i¥%hd year ended December
2009. The increase is primarily due to increasedrést expense associated with our terminatedtdeagility and decreased interest incc
related to short-term loans.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $6,65téoyear ended December 31, 2010, compared to intapmexpense of $2,132 for the year
ended December 31, 2009. During the fourth quanded December 31, 2010, we recorded a $436 Beteancome tax provision due a
return to provision adjustment.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireofr$9,928 or $0.41 per share for the year endsmé®ber 31, 2010, compared to net income
of $3,381 or $0.15 per share for the year endegtdber 31, 2009. In connection with the consolatatf HzO, we have a portion of the net
loss that is attributable the noncontrolling intri@ HzO that was $35 for the year ended Deceri@beP010 giving us net income attributable
to stockholders of $9,963.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, AS COMPARED TO THE WR ENDED DECMEBER 31, 2008 (all numbers in thousasy
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2009 $&&@62 compared to net sales of $19,792 for ¢3¢ gnded December 31, 2008,
increase of $18,570 or 94%.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, sales dhwisibleSHIELD product line accounted for approxitaly 95% of our revenues. We have
experienced significant growth in our indirect chahto Big Box retailers like Best Buy and Radiatk and both domestic and foreign
electronics accessory distributors. We are stdufed on distribution through our mall kiosk pamgrand through our website
www.ZAGG.com, but the significant growth for 2009 was througlr mndirect channel as we began selling throughtiél customers and
expanded our SKU count in our current customers. the year ended December 31, 2009, approxim&88ty of our overall net sales was
through our indirect channel, 29% was through oebsite, 9% was through our mall cart and kiosk mots and 4% for shipping and hand!
charges.
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Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, packing neseand shipping and fulfillment costs. For tleayended December 31, 2009, cost of sales
amounted to $16,309 or approximately 43% of netssak compared to cost of sales of $6,594 or 33%tafales for the year ended December
31, 2008. The increase in cost of sales as a pa@e of net revenues for the year ended Decembh@089 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2008 is attributable to the overddissmix shift to wholesale customers which haveveer average selling price than our inte
sales which have historically represented a lapgecentage of the total sales.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2089 $22,053 or approximately 57% of net sales apaoed to $13,198 or approximately
67% of net sales net sales for the year ended De=edd, 2008. The decrease in gross profit peagentvas again due to the sales mix shift
from direct internet sales to indirect customerscivinave a lower average selling price. As we iooretto grow our business, we will have
increased sales to our indirect customers whichawiitinue to put pressure on our gross profit imsrg\We were successful in the fourth
guarter of 2009 to negotiate better pricing on sofm@ur raw materials that helped to offset thegirapressure from the increased sales to our
indirect customers. There are no assurances thatilvcontinue to recognize similar gross profiamins in the future.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&2(8P were $16,343, an increase of $5,524 froal tyerating expenses for year ended
December 31, 2008 of $10,819. The increases araply attributable to the following:

« For the year ended December 31, 2009, salariesrelated taxes increased by $1,252 to $4,148 frorB9%2for the year end
December 31, 2008, which includes $993 in experadaged to the issuance of common stock and optmosir employees. We he
added additional staff during 2009 to accommodatecontinued growth. As we increase the salesuofpooducts through additior
distribution channels, we do not anticipate hatmincrease our headcount significan

» For the year ended December 31, 2009, marketingrasing and promotion expenses were $5,846, aease of $1,870 as compe
to $3,976, for the year ended December 31, 2008. cdhtinue to invest heavily in the developmenthaf invisibleSHIELD an
ZAGG brands through internet key word advertisitrgditional print media, television and radio adigéng and through the use
coupons. We expect our marketing and advertiskpgmeses to continue to be a significant expendifisreur revenues increase
expect to spend increased funds on advertisingpeardotion of our products as well as sales trainibgring fiscal 2010, we intend
continue to expand our marketing efforts relatedupexisting products and for our new productddtrctions.

« For the year ended December 31, 2009, other selliegeral and administrative expenses, net ofiealand related taxes descri
above, were $ 6,349 compared to $3,946 for the gaded December 31, 2008. The overall increasshar selling, general a
administrative expenses is attributable to theofwihg factors. We recorded an impairment charg&if2 related to the Bright
Partners note receivable and accompanying intaest was determined in the fourth quarter thatribee had been impaired,
increased our reserve for doubtful accounts by &B89to the failure of a major foreign distributord the inability of several of c
smaller customers to pay balances due to us beadutbe overall credit crisis during 2009, incregent expense of $97 as
increased our office facilities and increased wavsle rent, increased legal and accounting expasfs$838 due primarily to o
requirements under the Sarbari@dey Act and increased credit card and bank féek2®3 due to increased credit card transa
processing

Income (loss) from operation

We reported income from operations of $5,710 ferytbar ended December 31, 2009 compared to incamedperations of $2,379 for the
year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of $3;B34 increased income from operations for the gaded December 31, 2009
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008nsply attributable to the overall increase in salee to continued consumer adoption of
the invisibleSHIELD product line, the addition adwm customers and the expansion of additional SKItls @ur current customers.

Other income

For the year ended December 31, 2009, total ottperese was $197 compared to other income of $22théoyear ended December 31,
2008. The decrease is primarily attributed toitierest charges we incur as a result of drawingurine of credit and a decrease in interest
income with the impairment of notes receivable.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $2,13h&oye¢ar ended December 31, 2009 compared to intapmexpense of $501 for the year
ended December 31, 2008.
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Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireofr$3,381 or $0.15 per share for the year end=mb@ber 31, 2009 versus net income of
$2,099 or $0.11 per share for the year ended Deee8ih 2008.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (in thousands)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December Increase December Increase December
31, 20010 (Decrease) 31, 2009 (Decrease) 31, 2008
Cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ (3,159 $ (4,860 $ 1,70¢ $ 1,80C $ (99)
Cash used in investing activiti (2,936 (1,137 (1,80%) (910 (89%)
Cash provided by financing activiti 3,44( (569) 4,00¢ 3,981 28
December (Decrease’ December
31, 2010 Increase 31, 2009
Cash $ 237 $ (2,59 $ 4,971
Working capital 23,61¢ 11,19: 12,42:

Net cash used in operating activities in 2010 w4%4, compared to cash provided by operating iiesvof $1,706 during 2009. The over
decrease in cash flows from operating activitie200 compared to 2009 was primarily due to anallarcrease in current assets. Inventao
increased by $14,251 due to our overall ramp upventory levels to support our dramatic increassales. Accounts receivable increased by
$12,218 due to increased sales on account to direat channel; increased related party other adsk2,747 due to additional payments
related to the ZAGGbox project; $1,861 due to insezl prepaid expenses and other current assets deposits for inventory; increased
deferred income taxes of $1,482 and excess taXiteralated to sharbased payments of $620; and were partially offgehbreased accour
payable of $9,340; increased income taxes paydl$6,651; increased sales return liability of $Z,5don-cash stock-based compensation
expense of $993; increased accrued liabilities336$ depreciation and amortization of $348; norhaagense related to the issuance of
warrants of $293; and increased accrued wages agd related expenses of $138.

Net cash used in investing activities during 203 82,936, compared to cash used in investingitesivf $1,805 during 2009. The increi
in cash used for investing activities in 2010 compao 2009 was due to the payments made to Ha®erkto the waterproofing technology
and the acquisition of the Mason patents. We ials@ased capital expenditures by $820 relatedegurchase of computer equipment and
leasehold improvements at our facilities.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8,didring 2010 compared to $4,009 during 2009. &rds from warrant exercises wi
$2,079 during 2010, and proceeds from option egescwere $710.

We reported a net decrease in cash for the yeadeddcember 31, 2010, of $2,597.

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2008emerated revenues of $76,135 and $38,362, regplgcthad net income attributable to
stockholders of $9,963 and $3,381, respectivelg,tat negative cash flow from operations of $3,488 cash flow from operating activities
of $1,706, respectively. As of December 31, 20® had total equity of $32,781, retained earnirfgild, 701, working capital of $23,615,
accounts payable of $12,122, income taxes paydl§i8,030, sales returns liability of $2,068, accrueages and wage related expenses of
$303, deferred revenues of $295, accrued liatslitie$240 and notes payable of $31. Managemeigvesl that existing cash, along with cash
generated from the collection of accounts receatlir line of credit with U.S. Bank and the sdi@mducts will be sufficient to meet the
Company'’s cash requirements during the next twelwaths.

On March 8, 2011, the Company entered into (i) ameAded and Restated Loan Agreement dated MardhilZ, @he “A&R Loan Agreemen}”
with U.S. Bank National Association (“U.S. Bankdnd (ii) a Security Agreement dated March 7, 2@lith U.S. Bank (the “Security
Agreement”) and related agreements described ihdhe Agreement and Security Agreement. The A&RnLAgreement amends certain
terms from a prior Loan Agreement between the Caompend U.S Bank dated May 13, 2010.

The Loan Agreement provides for revolving loans atieer financial accommodations to or for the biredfthe Company of a principal
amount not to exceed the lesser of (a) the “BomgvBase” (defined below) or (b) Twenty Million Daik ($20,000,000) and in accordance
with the terms of the A&R Loan Agreement and otfedated documents (the “Loan DocumentsThe Borrowing Base is defined as the sui
(a) eighty percent (80%) of Borrower’s eligible aaats receivable (with eligibility determined puasii to the A&R Loan Agreement terms)
plus (b) fifty percent (50%) of Borrower’s eligibleventory (with eligibility determined pursuanttiee A&R Loan Agreement terms), although
in no event may the eligible inventory portion eads fifty percent (50%) of the total Borrowing Baskhe proceeds under the A&R Loan
Agreement may be used for working capital and otlegporate purposes. The Company’s obligatiorepay the loan shall be further
evidenced by one or more notes (each, a “RevolRiagnissory Note”).
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The A&R Loan Agreement and the credit facility maton March 15, 2012.

Advances under the A&R Loan Agreement bear inteaestBOR plus 1.75%. The default rate of inteies2% per annum over the otherwise
applicable interest rate. In addition to the aatnf interest at the default rate, in the evepagment is more than fifteen days past due, the
Company shall pay a late fee equal to five peroétite missed payment. Monthly payments of accintztest shall be due and payable or
fifth day of each month, commencing with April §12, and continuing on the fifth day of each mah#reafter. At maturity, the entire
outstanding principal balance, all remaining acdraed unpaid interest and all other amounts oulgtgrare due and payable in full to U.S.
Bank.

In connection with the A&R Loan Agreement, the Camyp also entered into a Security Agreement, a Pa&enurity Agreement, anc
Trademark Security Agreement, all of which haverbdisclosed in more detail in a Current Report onn8K filed by the Company ¢
March 14, 2011.

Based on our current level of operations, we belithat cash generated from operations, cash on, lasudavailable borrowings under
existing credit arrangements will be adequate t@tnoeir currently expected capital expenditures &ndking capital needs for the next
months and beyond.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table provides information on our t@ttual obligations as of December 31, 2010:

Less Than 1

Contractual Obligations Total Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years
(in thousands)

Operating lease commitmer $ 1,56z $ 431 % 924C $ 191 $ —
Total contractual obligatior $ 156z $ 431 $ 94C $ 191 $ =
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2010, there were no off balahest arrangements.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks in the arglisourse of our business. These risks resutigily from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. In additianinbernational operations are subject to riskates to differing economic conditions, changes
in political climate, differing tax structures anther regulations and restrictions.

To date we have not utilized derivative financratruments or derivative commodity instruments. denot expect to employ these or other
strategies to hedge market risk in the foresedahlee. We invest our cash in money market fumdsch are subject to minimal credit and
market risk. We believe that the market risks aisged with these financial instruments are immatgélthough there can be no guarantee that
these market risks will be immaterial to us.

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for furthésalission of our financing facilities and capiteiisture. Market risk, calculated as the
potential change in fair value of our cash equiveend line of credit resulting from a hypothdtit®% (100 basis point) change in interest
rates, was not material at December 31, 2010.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Our consolidated financial statements and footntteeto are set forth beginning on page F-1 af Report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON A CCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

On January 24, 2011, and acting upon a decisiehdage accountants recommended and approved Bp#rd of Directors, the Company
dismissed Hansen Barnett & Maxwell (“HBM"), whiclasaudited the financial statements of the Compamthe fiscal years ending
December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009. AdditionaltyJanuary 24, 2011, the Board of Directors apprakiecengagement of KPMG LLP
("KPMG”) as the new independent registered pubticaunting firm to audit the Company’s financialtstaents beginning with the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2010.
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The reports of HBM on the financial statementshef Company as of and for the years ended Decemb@089, 2008 and 2007, did not
contain an adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of igpin During the periods ended December 31, 20008 2nd 2007, through the date of
dismissal, (i) the Company did not have any disagwents with HBM on any matter of accounting pritespor practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, whishgteements, if not resolved to the satisfactidd®M would have caused it to make a
reference to the subject matter of the disagreesriertonnection with its reports, and (ii) thererevao “reportable eventsds described in Ite
304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K of the SecuritiescBange Act of 1934, as amended.

During the Company’s two most recent fiscal yearg] any subsequent interim period prior to engafifly!G, neither the Company nor
anyone acting on its behalf consulted KPMG wittpees to (i) the application of accounting principte a specified transaction, either
completed or proposed; (ii) the type of audit opimthat might be rendered on the Company’s findistéements; or (iii) any matter that was
the subject of a disagreement or reportable evemtden the Company and HBM.

Concurrently with its filing of its current repasth Form 8-K with the Commission on January 28, 2044 Company provided HBM with a
copy of the disclosures it made in the Current Repagether with a request that HBM furnish then@any with a letter addressed to the
Commission stating whether it agreed with the states made by the Company in the Current Repadt,ifinot, stating the respects in which
it did not agree. A copy of the letter dated Japwat, 2011, furnished by HBM in response to thguesst was filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the
Current Report, filed with the Commission on Jagy28, 2011.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
1. Disclosure Controls and Procedure:

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure contxals procedures, as such term is defined under Rael5(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tkeH&nhge Act"), as of December 31, 2010. Basedhigretvaluation, our principal executi
officer and principal financial officer concludettat our disclosure controls and procedures areteféeto ensure that information required to
be included in our reports filed or submitted unither Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recoptedessed, summarized, and reported as
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

2. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal coow financial reporting during the quarter endet&nber 31, 2010, that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting

3. Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@porting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act. Our internal control owearicial reporting is a process designed to prokédsonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Internal control over fineheeporting includes those written policies amdgedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in mealsie detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of
assets

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionseeoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accorda
with generally accepted accounting princip

« provide reasonable assurance that our receiptseapdnditures are being made only in accordance waitthorization of ot
management and directors; ¢

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventigimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of assets tl
could have a material effect on our consolidatedrftial statement

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofiternal control over financial reporting based the framework in "Internal Control—
Integrated Framework" issued by the Committee @Spring Organizations of the Treadway CommisdBased on this evaluation, our
management determined that, as of December 31, 2 Maintained effective internal control overafirtial reporting.
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Our independent registered public accounting fkilAMG LLP, has issued an attestation report on wt@rial control over financial reporting,
which is included at 9A.5 below.

4. Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Management, including our Chief Executive OfficadaChief Financial Officer, does not expect that disclosure controls or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent ortdet all errors and all fraud. A control system,matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuraratetth control system’s objectives will be met. Hesign of a control system must reflect the
fact that there are resource constraints, andeheflis of controls must be considered relativiheir costs. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluatidrcontrols can provide absolute assurance thattatesaents due to error or fraud will not oc

or that all control issues and instances of fréuahy, within the company have been detected. & li@serent limitations include the realities
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty #vad breakdowns can occur because of simple ernmistake. Controls also can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people, or by managahoverride of the controls.

The design of any system of controls is based ihgracertain assumptions about the likelihoodubdife events, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stageals under all potential future conditions. Betipns of any evaluation of controls
effectiveness to future periods are subject tasri€kver time, controls may become inadequate beaafushanges in conditions or deterioration
in the degree of compliance with policies or praged.
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5. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of ZAGG Incorporated

We have audited ZAGG Incorporatedinternal control over financial reporting as oéd@mber 31, 2010 based on criteria establish
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission (COSO). ZA
Incorporateds management is responsible for maintaining effectnternal control over financial reporting and fits assessment of i
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting, included in the accompanying ManagemergdReon Internal Control Over Financ
Reporting (Item 9A.3). Our responsibility is to egps an opinion on the Company’s internal contvelrdinancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightif8g&nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaBsonable assurance about whether effectiven@iteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal contka@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aalli@ing the design and operating effectivenedatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestarée believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeadcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdidose policies and procedures that (1) pertathéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assut
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgreparation of financial statements in accor@amdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoazations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalskurance regarding prevention or timely deteaifounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢teisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgjext to the risk that controls may becom&dequate because of changes in conditions, t
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In our opinion, ZAGG Incorporated maintained, ihrabkterial respects, effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of December
2010, based on criteria establishedriternal Control—Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatmithe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolids
balance sheet of ZAGG Incorporated and subsidisaef December 31, 2010, and the related consetidatatements of operatic
stockholders’equity and comprehensive income, and cash flowgheryear then ended, and our report dated Mar¢l2@%1 expressed
unqualified opinion on those consolidated finanstatements.

/sl KPMG

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 24, 2011
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ITEM 9B. OTHER ITEMS
None.
PART III
Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 in Part 11l of this Bee@are incorporated herein by reference to ouindife proxy statement for our 2011 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders. We intend to file ourimife proxy statement with the SEC not later ti2® days after December 31, 2010,
pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exgeafict of 1934, as amended.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERN ANCE
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

15(a)(1). Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statementg] aglated notes and Report of Independent Regéstfeublic Accounting Firm are filed as
part of this Annual Report:

Page
Report of KPMG LLP Independent Registered PublicdAmting Firm F-2
Report of Hansen Barnett & Maxwell, P.C. Independeegistered Public Accounting Firn F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &0d.200¢ F-4
Consoldated Statements of Operations for the yevaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and F-5

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity and Comprehensive Incoifor the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 angl F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200¢& F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-9
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15(a)(2). Financial Statement Schedules.

None.

15(a)(3). Exhibits.

Exhibit Number

Description

3.1*
3.2*
10.1
10.z
10.5
10.4
10.t
10.€
10.7
10.¢
10.€
10.1(
10.11
10.1%

14*
16

21.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Articles of Incorporation of Registrant as filedtlwthe State of Nevac

Bylaws of Registran

Loan Agreement dated as of May 13, 2010 (previofiig as an exhibit to our Current Report on F@il{ dated May
17, 2010, and incorporated herein by referer

Security Agreement dated as of May 13, 2010 (preshofiled as an exhibit to our Current Report amriz 8-K dated
May 17, 2010, and incorporated herein by referer

Revolving Promissory Note dated as of May 13, 2@it8viously filed as an exhibit to our Current Regm Form K
dated May 17, 2010, and incorporated herein byreef).

Trademark Security Agreement dated as of May 130Zpreviously filed as an exhibit to our CurrergpRrt on Form -
K dated May 17, 2010, and incorporated herein fgremce).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of November9, @Beviously filed as an exhibit to our Currergd@rt on Form 8-
K dated November 18, 2010, and incorporated hdrgireference)

Amended and Restated Loan Agreement between ZAG@porated and U.S. Bank National Association dMeadch 7,
2011 (previously filed as an exhibit to a CurreepBrt on Form -K filed on March 14, 2011

Form of Revolving Note under Amended and RestatshLAgreement (previously filed as an exhibit tBuarent Repor
on Form K filed on March 14, 2011

Security Agreement between ZAGG Incorporated argl Bank National Association dated March 7, 20k&\jpusly
filed as an exhibit to a Current Report on Foi-K filed on March 14, 2011

Patent Security Agreement between ZAGG IncorporatetU.S. Bank National Association dated March02,1
(previously filed as an exhibit to a Current RegitForm K filed on March 14, 2011

Trademark Security Agreement between ZAGG Incongorand U.S. Bank National Association dated March011
(previously filed as an exhibit to a Current ReportForm i-K filed on March 14, 2011

Continuing and Unconditional Guaranty of ZAGG Euedpl'D (previously filed as an exhibit to a Curr&weport on Fortr
8-K filed on March 14, 2011

Settlement Agreement dated as of March 23, 201andyamong ZAGG Incorporated, Teleportall, LLC, idar
Holdings, LLC, Global Industrial Services Limiteahd Lorance Harme

Code of Ethic

Letter of Hansen Barnett & Maxwell, P.C. previouBilgd as an exhibit to our Current Report on F&i dated January
28, 2011, and incorporated herein by referer

List of subsidiarie:

Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr

Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér

Section 1350 Certification of Principal ExecutivéfiCer

Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financidfi€er

* previously filed with the Securities and Exchangernission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regis has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.
ZAGG INCORPORATED

Dated: March 24, 2011 By: /ssROBERT G. PEDERSEN I

Robert G. Pedersen Il
President, CEO and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Dated: March 24, 20: By: /s BRANDON T. O'BRIEN
Brandon T. O’Brien
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Office

Dated: March 24, 20: By: /s/ ED EKSTROM

Ed Ekstromr
Director

Dated: March 24, 20: By: /s/ SHU UEYAMA

Shu Ueyama
Director

Dated: March 24, 2011 By: /s/ RANDY HALES

Randy Hales
Director

Dated: March 24, 2011 By: /sICHERYL LARABEE

Cheryl Larabet
Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
ZAGG Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of ZAGG Incorporated and subsidiaried &oember 31, 2010, and the rel:
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldegsity and comprehensive income, and cash flowstHer year then ended. Th
consolidated financial statements are the respiifsibf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to express @nian on thes
consolidated financial statements based on out.audi

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadslof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8a&@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An @
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all materé&spects, the financial position of ZA(
Incorporated and subsidiaries as of December 310,28nd the results of their operations and thaghcflows for the year then ended
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfingciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight BodUnited States), ZAG
Incorporated’s internal control over financial retony as of December 31, 2010, based on critettiabéished ininternal Control —Integratec
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatairtbe Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regateéd March 24, 20:
expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectigsrad the Company’s internal control over financggorting.

(sighed) KPMG LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 24, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
ZAGG Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheet of ZAGG Incorporated and subsidiary (Beripany”)as of December 3
2009, and the related consolidated statementserhtipns, stockholdergquity and comprehensive income, and cash flowsdah of the tw
years in the period ended December 31, 2009. Thiesacial statements are the responsibility of thempan’s management. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaflo(United States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenemtekhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetageferred to above present fairly, in all mater@gspects, the consolidated financial pos

of ZAGG Incorporated and subsidiary as of Decen®ier2009, and the results of their operations &et tash flows for each of the two ye
in the period ended December 31, 2009, in confgrmith accounting principles generally acceptethie United States of America.

HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 12, 2010
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2010 2009
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivale $ 2,373,229 $ 4,970,75
Accounts receivable, n 17,668,61 5,450,72.
Inventories 17,946,94 3,695,841
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,620,30! 758,83!
Related party other ass 3,899,911 1,152,501
Deposit on intangible ass - 1,151,001
Deferred income tax ass¢ 2,195,68 255,65:
Total current assets 46,704,75 17,435,30
Property and equipment, net 1,496,53 887,70!
Deferred income tax asset - 446,15.
Other assets 63,31( 9,68¢
Intangible assets, ne 9,167,46! 119,62
Total assets $ 57,432,06 $ 18,898,48
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Notes payabli $ 30,92: $ -
Accounts payabl 12,122,01 2,781,42!
Income taxes payab 8,030,71! 1,228,89!
Accrued liabilities 240,45: 23,56:
Accrued wages and wage related expe 302,96! 164,49!
Deferred revenu 294,93: 262,93
Sales returns liabilit 2,067,67. 550,20:
Total current liabilities 23,089,67 5,011,51!
Deferred income tax liability 1,561,46! -
Total liabilities 24,651,13 5,011,51!
Equity
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shart®eazed;
23,925,763 and 21,711,862 shares issued and oditsga respectivel 23,92¢ 21,71:
Additional paic-in capital 15,494,83 9,239,28!
Cumulative translation adjustme (59,807 (112,039
Retained earning 14,701,07 4,738,00.
Total stockholders' equity 30,160,03 13,886,96
Noncontrolling interest 2,620,89. -
Total equity 32,780,92 13,886,96
Total liabilities and equity $ 57,432,06 $ 18,898,48




See accompanying notes to consolidated financissents.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net sales $ 76,135,02 $ 38,361,74 $ 19,791,60
Cost of sales 38,738,07 16,308,50 6,593,71i
Gross profit 37,396,94 22,053,24 13,197,88
Operating expenses

Advertising and marketin 5,067,37 5,845,80. 3,976,01!

Selling, general and administrati 15,516,14 10,497,39 6,842,92.
Total operating expense: 20,583,52 16,343,19 10,818,93
Income from operations 16,813,42 5,710,05. 2,378,94!
Other (expense) income

Interest expens (242,61) (231,449 (6,022

Interest and other incon 6,59: 34,83 227,22.
Total other (expense) incom (236,029 (196,615 221,20:.
Income before provision for income taxe: 16,577,39 5,513,43 2,600,15!
Income tax provision (6,649,740 (2,132,01) (501,189
Net income 9,927,65! 3,381,42! 2,098,96.
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 35,41« - -
Net income attributable to stockholders $ 9,963,07. $ 3,381,420 $ 2,098,96
Earnings per share attributable to stockholders:

Basic earnings per share $ 044/ % 0.1€¢ $ 0.11

Diluted earnings per share $ 041 $ 0.1t $ 0.11

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sients.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Additional Retained Cumulative Total
Common Stock Paid-in Earnings Translation Stockholders Noncontrolling Total
Shares  Amount Capital (Deficit)  Adjustment Equity Interest Equity
Balances, December 31,
2007 18,853,99 $ 18,85 $ 4,091,86: $ (742,38) $ (3,866) $ 3,364,46! $ - $ 3,364,46!
Comprehensive incom
Net income - - - 2,098,96. - 2,098,96. - 2,098,96:
Foreign currency translati
loss - - - - (102,769 (102,769 - (102,769)
Comprehensive incorn 1,996,19! - 1,996,19
Issuance of common stoc
to employees and
consultant: 210,00( 21C 178,22¢ - - 178,43¢ - 178,43¢
Issuance of common sto
for exercise of warrani 100,00 10C 38,76 - - 38,86: - 38,86:
Option expens - - 238,76: - - 238,76. - 238,76:
Balances, December 3
2008 19,163,99 19,16 4,547,61¢ 1,356,57: (106,63() 5,816,72 - 5,816,72
Comprehensive incom:
Net income - - - 3,381,42 - 3,381,42 - 3,381,42
Foreign currency translati
loss - - - - (5,409 (5,409 - (5,409
Comprehensive incorr 3,376,01! - 3,376,01
Issuance of common stoc
to employee: 80,00( 80 282,72( - - 282,80( - 282,80(
Option exercise 634,29¢ 632 467,88: - - 468,51« - 468,51
Warrant exercise 1,833,56! 1,834  2,275,07. = = 2,276,90! - 2,276,90!
Warrant gran - - 221,917 - - 221,917 - 221,917
Option expens - - 381,99. - - 381,99. - 381,99.
Excess tax benefits relate
to share-based payments - - 1,062,08 - - 1,062,08 - 1,062,08
Balances, December 3
2009 21,711,86 21,71.  9,239,28!  4,738,00: (112,039 13,886,96 - 13,886,96
Purchase of Hz(
technology and equipme - - - - - - 2,656,300 2,656,330
Comprehensive incom:
Net income (loss - - - 9,963,07. - 9,963,07. (35,414 9,927,65!



Foreign currency translatii
gain

Comprehensive incorn

Issuance of common stoc
to employee:

Option exercise
Warrant exercise
Warrant gran
Patent acquisitio
Option expens

Excess tax benefits relat
to share-based payments

Balances, December 31,
2010

20,00( 20 42,18(
524,30: 524 709,75:
1,599,601 1,60C 2,077,87
= = 292,99.

70,00( 70  1,604,96!

= = 951,27¢

. = 576,50¢

52,231

52,23 - 52,23
10,015,30 (35,419 9,979,89!
42,20( - 42,20(
710,27 - 71027
2,079,47! - 2,079,47
292,99: - 292,90
1,605,03! - 1,605,03!
951,27¢ - 951,27
576,50¢ - 576,50

23,925,76 $ 23,92¢ $15,494,83 $14,701,07 $ (59,80 $ 30,160,03 $

2,620,89: $32,780,92

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 9,927,65 $ 3,381,420 $ 2,098,96
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢
provided by (used in) operating activitit
Stoclk-based compensatic 993,47! 664,79: 406,06«
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen (619,539 (1,062,08)) -
Depreciation and amortizatic 348,17 243,11¢ 160,26
Deferred income taxe (1,481,78) 507,94 370,34°
Expense related to issuance of warri 292,99: - -
Impairment expense for short term n - 438,00( -
Gain on asset dispos: - - (12,215
Changes in operating assets and liabili
Accounts receivabl (12,217,89) (1,856,83) (3,191,44)
Inventories (14,251,10) (1,782,54) (1,466,25)
Related party other ass (2,747,410 (2,152,501 -
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (1,861,47) (7,759 (315,92()
Other asset (53,627 - -
Accounts payabl 9,340,58! 1,155,03! 1,120,81!
Income taxes payab 6,801,82 - -
Accrued liabilities 686,33t 978,64 176,94(
Accrued wages and wage related expe 138,47( 43,38 25,57¢
Deferred revenue 31,99 (103,652) 265,67¢
Sales return liability 1,517,47 259,08 267,25t
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi (3,153,84) 1,706,05: (93,92()
Cash flows from investing activities
Deposits on and purchase of intangible as (2,116,540 (1,230,26) (4,909
Shor-term loans - - (513,001)
Proceeds from disposal of equipm - - 2,994
Purchase of property and equipm (819,53) (574,47)) (380,10:)
Net cash used in investing activiti (2,936,07) (1,804,73) (895,017)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on del - (20,229 (21,86
Proceeds from notes payal 30,92: - -
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and opt 2,789,75! 2,967,33 -
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen 619,53 1,062,08 -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and wat - - 50,00(
Net cash provided by financing activiti 3,440,21. 4,009,19! 28,13:
Effect of foreign current exchange rates on cash ahcash equivalents 52,231 (5,409 (102,769
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivale (2,597,46) 3,905,10. (1,063,56)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the perc 4,970,75! 1,065,65. 2,129,21!
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the peric $ 2,373,29. $ 4,970,75 $ 1,065,65
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid during the period for inter $ 24261 $ 231,44¢ %

Cash paid during the period for ta

710,17: 551,68:

6,022

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsents.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaing activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Issued 100,000 warrants to consultants.
Issued 70,000 shares of common stock and 250,00@nts in connection with the acquisition of pasenSee Note 5.
Issued 8,417,506 shares of HzO Series A Preferred Stockmmection with the acquisition of the HzO teclogyl. See Note 5.
Issued 500,000 shares of HzO Series A Preferreck $to the purchase of equipment.
Issued 20,000 shares of common stock to employees.
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009:
Issued 370,000 warrants to consultants.
Issued 80,000 shares of common stock to employees.
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008:
Issued 210,000 shares of common stock to emplameesonsultants.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financistents.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company

ZAGG Incorporated (the “Company”) was incorporaitethe State of Utah on March 25, 2005, as Prateiolutions, Inc. On January 30,
2006, the Company amended its articles of incotpmrand changed its name to ShieldZone Corporat®n February 8, 2007 the Company
was acquired by an inactive publicly held compakyerasia Khan Enterprises Ltd. in a transactioroanted for as a recapitalization of the
Company. On March 1, 2007, the Company redomeéstidés operating subsidiary by reincorporatinig ithe State of Nevada and on that
same date the Company merged that subsidiary imterasia Khan Enterprises Ltd, the parent, who Wastrviving entity. In connection
with the merger, the Company changed the name adrasia Khan Enterprises Ltd. to ZAGG Incorporated.

The Company provides innovative consumer prodikesfilms, skins, audio and power solutions thattpct, personalize, and enhance the
mobile experience. ZAGG's products are distribwteddwide under the following brands, invisibleSHID®, ZAGGskins™, ZAGGsparg™
ZAGGbuds™, ZAGG LEATHERskins™, and ZAGGmate ™.

Certain reclassifications of prior year amountsehbgen made to conform to the current year pretsemta
Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdamgnprinciples requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discséicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements haddéported amounts of revenue and expenses dbemgporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Significant itemsjsabto such estimates include the allowance fabtfol accounts, inventories, sales returns
and warranty liability, the useful life of properynd equipment and intangible assets, stiaded compensation, deferred tax assets, and ir
tax uncertainties and other contingencies. Tlestimates and assumptions are based on managelmesttsstimates and judgment.
Management evaluates its estimates and assumptioais ongoing basis using historical experienceadher factors, including the economic
environment, which management believes to be reddemnder the circumstances. Management adjusisestimates and assumptions when
facts and circumstances dictate.

Principles of consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of ZAGG Incorporated and its wholly ownebtsidiaries ZAGG Europe Limited,
ZAGG International and ZAGG Intellectual Propertglding Co, Inc., and HzO, Inc. which is a varialiiterest entity. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminatezhisotidation.

Cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instrumemtschased with a maturity of three months or tedse cash equivalents. Amounts
receivable from credit card processors are alssidered cash equivalents because they are bottitehorand highly liquid in nature and are
typically converted to cash within three days @& #ales transaction. Cash equivalents as of Deae3db@010 and 2009, consisted primaril}
money market fund investments and amounts receiviadnn credit card processors.

Fair value measurements
The Company measures at fair value certain finhregid nonfinancial assets by using a fair value hierarchgt thrioritizes the inputs
valuation techniques used to measure fair value.Vigdue is the price that would be received td arlasset or paid to transfer a liability ir
orderly transaction between market participanth@atmeasurement date, essentially an exit pricggean the highest and best use of the
or liability. The levels of the fair value hieraschre:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotades for similar items in active markets, quotettgs for identical or simil:

items in markets that are not active, inputs othan quoted prices that are observable such as#tteate and yield curves, and market-
corroborated inputs); and
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there idibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.
Accounts receivabls

The Company sells its products to end users thrindjhect distribution channels and other resellen® are extended credit terms after an
analysis of their financial condition and creditniiiness. Credit terms to distributors and resgll@hen extended, are based on evaluation of
the customers' financial condition. Accounts reabie are recorded at invoiced amounts and doesnt ibterest.

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful ant®tor estimated losses resulting from the ingbdf customers to make required
payments. Management regularly evaluates the atioe for doubtful accounts considering historioakkes adjusted to take into account
current market conditions, customers’ financialdition, receivables in dispute, receivables aging eurrent payment patterns. Account
balances are written off against the allowance afteneans of collection have been exhausted lamgdtential for recovery is considered
remote. Payments subsequently received on widtiiereceivables are credited to the bad debt expanthe period of recovery.

The following summarizes the activity in the Comypanallowance for doubtful accounts for the yearseenBecember 31, 2010, 2009
2008:

For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of ye $ 685,15 $ 218,93t $ 63,24
Additions charged to expen 219,14: 466,21¢ 155,69!
Write-downs charged against the allowa — — —
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off — — —
Balance at end of ye: $ 904,29¢ $ 685,15! $ 218,93t

On May 13, 2009, the Company entered into an adsaeceivable financing agreement with Faunus Glatgrnational, Inc. (“FGI”). Under
the agreement, the Company could offer to seliétounts receivable to FGI each month during tire té the Agreement, up to a maximum
amount outstanding at any time of $4,000,000. Campany could sell accounts receivable to FGI tmeeia credit approved or full recourse
basis. Credit approved invoices were sold to F@& wo recourse, FGI accepted all credit defagk on invoices sold under the credit
approved terms. The Company accounted for theoddhe credit approved invoices as a reductioacmounts receivable. Amounts sold ur
the financing agreement for 2010, 2009, and 200& 6,988,875, $6,614,532, and $0, respectivelyddd the terms of the agreement, the
Company was charged a monthly collateral managefaerdf 0.87% of the average monthly outstandirigrizae and interest at 7% per
annum. The term of the agreement was for a pefiéour years. However, effective May 12, 201& ®ompany terminated the receivable
financing agreement with FGI. As a result of thelyetermination of the agreement, the Company pdiermination fee of $75,000 to FGI that
was recorded as interest expense in the accomppogirsolidated financial statements in full satiita of the Company’s obligations under
the agreement.
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ZAGG INCORPORATED AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of finished goaasd raw materials, are valued at the lower of,@etiermined on a first-in, first-out basis, or
market. Management performs periodic assessmedistérmine the existence of obsolete, slow mosaimd) non-saleable inventories, and
records necessary write downs in cost to reducle swentories to net realizable value.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digi@n expense is computed using the straightdie¢hod over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortizsdtioe lesser of the useful life of the asseherterm of the lease.

Major additions and improvements are capitalizeloi)evcosts for minor replacements, maintenancerapdirs that do not increase the useful
life of an asset are expensed as incurred. Upoement or other disposition of property and equéint, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation or amortization are removed from ttepants. The resulting gain or loss is reflecteddlling, general and administrative
expense.

Intangibles asset

Intangible assets include internet addresses, papgilications, and purchased patents and intebégiroperty and are amortized over t
estimated economic lives, using a strailiym- or accelerated method. Amortization expemsdated to certain acquired patents and intelle
property is classified as a component of cost aidgosold.

Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipraedtpurchased intangible assets subject to amibotizare reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount of an asset may noebeverable. If circumstances require a
long-lived asset or asset group be tested for blessnpairment, recoverability of long-lived assistsneasured by comparison of its carrying
amount to the undiscounted cash flows that thet assesset group is expected to generate oveethaining life in measuring whether the
assets are recoverable. If such assets are eoeditb be impaired, the impairment to be recoghigeneasured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its fairevakair value is determined through various vatuatechniques including discounted cash
flow models, quoted market values and third-partjependent appraisals, as considered necessary.

Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising fromiata, assessments, litigation, fines, and penadtiesother sources are recorded when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred andatm®unt can be reasonably estimated. Legal castsrgd in connection with loss
contingencies are expensed as incurred.

Revenue recognitiol

The Company’s revenue is derived from sales gintglucts through its indirect channel includingailers and distributors and through its
direct channel including www.ZAGG.coand its corporate owned and third-party-owned kialks, and from the license fees for the sale of
exclusive independent distributor licenses relatetthe kiosk program. For product sales, the Compacords revenue, net of estimated
returns and discounts, when products are shippedhencustomer takes ownership and assumes riskgfcollection of the relevant
receivable is probable, persuasive evidence oframgement exists and the sales price is fixeceterchinable. Shipping and other
transportation costs charged to buyers are recordeoth sales and cost of sales. Sales taxesotedl from customers and remitted to
governmental authorities are accounted for on dasis and therefore are excluded from revenuekigsk license fees, the Company
recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis oetatm of the license which is generally three gear
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Promotional products given to customers or potentiatomers are recognized as a component of getieneral and administrative expenses.
Sales incentives provided to customers are recedras a reduction of the related sale price dirte of sale, and, therefore, are a reduction in
revenues.

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabil

The Companys return policy generally allows its end users aaidilers to return purchased products for refunith @xchange for new produ
within 45 days of end user purchase. In additibe,Company generally provides the ultimate conswanearranty with each product. The
Company estimates a reserve for sales returns arranty liability and records that reserve amow aeduction of revenues and as a sales
return reserve liability.

The following summarizes the activity in the Comgansales return and warranty liability for the yeansled December 31, 2010, 2009
2008:

For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of ye $ 550,20: $ 291,11¢ $ 23,86
Additions charged to expen 7,047,46 2,845,95 1,053,58
Sales returns and warranty claims charged agdiaseserve (5,529,99) (2,586,87) (786,329
Balance at end of ye: $ 2,067,677 $ 550,20. $ 291,11

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assétddities for expected future tax consequenafsvents that have been recognized in
the financial statements or tax returns. Undex tiethod, deferred income tax assets or liabilaresdetermined based upon the difference
between the financial statement and income taxshafsassets and liabilities using enacted tax meected to apply when differences are
expected to be settled or realized. Deferred irectar assets are reviewed for recoverability ardatimn allowances are provided when it is
more likely than not that a deferred tax assetmoli be realizable in the future. The effect ofeded tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in income in the period ithdudes the enactment date.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taiipas only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained. Recognized
income tax positions are measured at the largestuatihat is greater than 50% likely of being rasadi. Changes in recognition or measurel
are reflected in the period in which the changgidlyment occurs. The Company records estimatedesitand penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of indamerovision.

The Company has foreign subsidiaries formed or iaeduo conduct or support its business outsiddthiged States. The Company does not
provide for U.S. income taxes on undistributed em® for its foreign subsidiaries as the foreigmewys will be permanently reinvested in s
foreign jurisdictions.

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsgpn its consolidated financial statements feards granted to employees and non-
employees under its stock incentive plan, whicluide restricted stock and stock options. Equigssified awards are measured at the grant
date fair value of the award. The fair value otnieted stock is measured on the grant date bas¢ldeoguoted closing market price of the
Company’s common stock. The fair value of thelstmations is measured on the grant date using thekBScholes option pricing model

based on the underlying common stock closing @&ef the date of grant, the expected term, stack polatility, and risk-free interest

rates . The Company recognizes compensation egpeiof estimated forfeitures on a straight-liasib over the requisite service period of
the award, which is generally the vesting termhefaward. No compensation cost is ultimately rataayl for awards for which employees do
not render the requisite service and are forfeitexicess tax benefits of awards that are recognizeduity related to stock option exercises are
reflected as financing cash inflows.
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Advertising and marketing

General advertising is expensed as incurred. Aiduegtallowances provided to retailers are recomaedn expense when incurred as the
Company receives an identifiable benefit in refiomthe allowance. Advertising expenses for theryemded December 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008 were $5,067,377, $5,845,801 and $3,976,0%pentively. Included in the December 31, 2008eesp was $190,787 related to an
infomercial that the company had produced, butagbently abandoned.

Foreign currency translation and transactions

The Company’s primary operations are at the pdeset which uses the U.S. dollar (USD) as its fimrwdl currency. The British Pound is the
functional currency of the Company’s ZAGG Europenlted subsidiary and the Euro is the functionatency of the Company’s ZAGG
International subsidiary. Accordingly, assets hakiilities for these subsidiaries are translated USD using exchange rates in effect at the
end of each period. Revenue and expenses for sués&iaries are translated using rates that appat& those in effect during the period.
Gains and losses from these translations are redasl a component of accumulated other compreleeimgiome in stockholders’

equity. Gains and losses resulting from foreigmency transactions are included in income as gpom@nt of other, net in the consolidated
statements of operations and totaled $(15,9168,6{2) and $181,195 for the years ended Decemh&03D, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Segment Reportin

The accounting guidance requires disclosures cetateomponents of a company for which separatnfifal information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the Company's chief opegatiecision maker in deciding how to allocate resesiand in assessing

performance. Management believes that the Compasywnly one operating segment in accordance wabuating guidance because the
Company's business consists of sales of consumerahics accessories, primarily related to thésibleSHIELD product line.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per common share excludes dilutimhisccomputed by dividing net income attributaiolstockholders by weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding duhiegeriod. Diluted earnings per common shalects the potential dilution that could
occur if stock options or other common stock eqeints were exercised or converted into common stblk dilutive effect of stock options
other common stock equivalents is calculated utfiegreasury stock method.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerasord denominator used to calculate basic earningshage and diluted earnings per share for
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:

2010 2009 2008

Net income attributable to stockhold: $ 9963,07. $ 3,381,428 $ 2,098,96.
Weighted average shares outstanc 22,518,44 20,633,81 18,971,39
Dilutive effect of stock options and warrants 1,744,05; 2,355,22 293,83(
Diluted shares 24,262,49 22,989,03 19,265,22
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc

Basic $ 04/ % 0.1€ $ 0.11

Dilutive $ 041 $ 0.1t $ 0.11

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, s0f] 2@rrants and stock options to purchase 1,1864822,500, and 4,146,953,
respectively, were not considered in calculatiigtdd earnings per share because the warrantak sfiiion exercise prices or the total
expected proceeds under the treasury stock metiidbe warrants or stock options was greater tharaverage market price of common sh
during the period and, therefore, the effect wdddanti-dilutive.
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Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes changes to equityuexts that were not the result of transactions stitltkholders. Comprehensive income is
comprised of net income and changes in the cumrelédireign currency translation adjustments.

Recent accounting pronouncemen

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Stand8atsrd ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Upd&&U™) No. 2010-06, Improving
Disclosures About Fair Value Measureme, which requires reporting entities to make neveldisures about recurring or nonrecurring fair-
value measurements including significant transfeisand out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair-value mgasnents and information on purchases,
sales, issuances, and settlements on a grossibésisreconciliation of Level 3 fair-value measuents. ASU 2010-06 is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2@88ept for Level 3 reconciliation disclosures evhare effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2010. We do not exthectemaining adoption of ASU 2010-06 relatechtrieconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements to have a material impact on our tidated financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-13, whictends ASC Topic 60RRevenue Recognitiorip require companies to allocate
revenue in multiple-element arrangements based@beament's estimated selling price if vendor-djmeor other third-party evidence of value
is not available. ASU 2009-13 is effective for aahteporting periods beginning after December 18,02 We do not expect the adoption of
ASU 2009-13 to have a material impact on our cadat#d financial statements.

NOTE 2 — PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid expenses and other current assets are sizednia the table below:

December 31

2010 2009
Interest and other receivabl $ 97,71¢ $ 69,45¢
Inventory deposit 2,277,61! 360,63!
Other 244,97: 328,74:
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 2,620,300 $ 758,83!

NOTE 3 — INVENTORIES
Inventory consisted of the following components:

December 31

2010 2009
Finished good $ 792538 $ 778,87:
Raw material 10,021,56 2,916,96!
Total inventory $ 17,946,94 $ 3,695,84
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NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31

)

2010 2009
Useful Lives
Computer equipment and softw 3to5yearr $ 587,120 $ 431,92!
Equipment 31010 year: 936,63t 452,47
Furniture and fixture 7 years 98,40" 109,39:
Automobiles 5 years 176,47¢ 93,00:
Leasehold improvemen 1to 4.75 year 549,90:. 318,18
2,348,55I 1,404,971
Less accumulated depreciation (852,019 (517,26!
Net property and equipment $ 1,496,53 $ 887,70!
NOTE 5 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Company’s intangible assets are summarizedtkitatble below:
December 31, 201
Weighted
average Gross Net
amortization carrying Accumulated carrying
period amount amortization amount
Intangibles subject to amortizatic
Internet addresst 10yre $ 124,23: (28,069) 96,16"
Patent: 14 yre 1,835,57! — 1,835,57!
Intangibles not subject to amortizatic
Patent application cos N/A 47,03¢ — 47,03¢
HzO technology N/A 7,188,68 — 7,188,68
Total $ 9,19553! (28,069 9,167,46!
December 31, 2009
Weighted
average Gross Net
amortization carrying Accumulated carrying
period amount amortization amount
Intangibles subject to amortizatic
Internet addresse 10yre $ 124,23. (15,64¢) 108,58t
Intangibles not subject to amortizatic
Patent application costs N/A 11,03¢ — 11,03¢
Total $ 135,27: (15,64¢6) 119,62
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For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 arf] aftbrtization expense was $12,423, $6,981 antb84respectively. Estimated
aggregate amortization for definite-lived intangilblssets for the next five years is as follows:

2011 $ 200,42
2012 217,52
2013 219,53:
2014 222 ,59¢
2015 226,61t

Internet addresse

Internet addresses consists of amounts paid toeséoel Company'’s Internet addresses. The Compangdrdractual rights customary in the
industry to use its Internet addresses. HowelierCompany does not have and cannot acquire apgyaights to the internet

addresses. The Company does not expect to logglits to use the Internet addresses; howevem tten be no assurance in this regard and
such loss could have a material adverse effedi@Cbmpany’s financial position and results of atiens. Amortization is being recorded
straight line and is included in selling, generad administrative expenses.

Patent application cost

Patent application costs for the years ended Deeefith 2010 and 2009 include legal fees paid imeotion with the Company’s patent
applications of $47,039 and $11,039, respectivélg.of December 31, 2010, the patents had not bested. Accordingly, the Company has
not begun to amortize the patent application castswill begin amortizing the patents over the @coit life of the patents, when the patent is
granted.

Patents

On August 31, 2010, Andrew Mason (“Mason”) filed@nplaint against the Company claiming patent igfeiment on the Company’s
invisibleSHIELD installation kits. On September2910, the Company filed a counter complaint agafesson and his company, eShields
LLC (“eShields”). On November 9, 2010, before eitparty had responded on the merits to the classerted, the Company, Mason and
eShields entered into an Asset Purchase Agreerffamchase Agreement”) under which a wholly ownebsstiary of the Company, ZAGG
Intellectual Property Holding Co., Inc., a Nevadaporation, acquired all of the rights of Masorthe (i) patents which are the subject of the
litigation, (ii) patent application filed on Augu%8, 2010 (the “CIP Application”) and (iii) rights sue for infringement of the patents.

In consideration for the conveyance of Mason'’s @sdescribed above, the Company agreed to paynwegdo Mason the following:

(@) a first payment of $200,000 by November 11, 201@, asecond payment of $150,000 after Decembe2®D;

(b) issue to Mason five-year warrants (the “Watato purchase 750,000 shares of the Companytsicesd Common Stock at an
exercise price equal to the closing bid price onédober 9, 2010 ($8.53); provided that 500,000 eft60,000 warrant shares are
exercisable only upon the issuance of a patent frenCIP Application with at least one claim thatisfies the Claim Conditions (as
defined below)

(c) issue to Mason 70,000 shares of the Com’s restricted Common Stock; a
(d) grant eShields a fully pe-up, perpetual, nc-exclusive license, with limited rights to transéersublicense, for the patents and ¢
Applications.
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The Company also agreed to dismiss the claimstasisagainst Mason and eShields, and to make adaifgayments to Mason if the US
Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTQO”) issues a gafent that includes at least one claim that Hyoagicompasses any protective kit that
includes a package, as well as a squeegee andasiaglcoated protective film for a consumer et@ttr device with a peel-away backing
within the package (collectively, the “Claim Coridits”). If the Claim Conditions are met, the Comypavill:

(a) pay Mason the sum of $500,000; ¢
(b) issue to Mason 430,000 shares of the Con’s restricted Common Stoc

If the Claim Conditions are not met, the Company ha obligation to make the payment or issue tlaeeshdescribed in the preceding
paragraph and Mason will not be able to exercise@ID of the Warrants. There can be no assuraatéhnte USPTO will issue a patent on the
CIP Application that meets the requirements of@hem Conditions.

The Company determined the fair value of the caesitibn paid, excluding the consideration contiriggron issuance of a patent on the CIP
Application, was $1,955,035 which includes $350,006ash consideration, $1,605,035 of fair valuetfie 250,000 warrants. The fair value
of the 250,000 warrants that are not contingertherCIP application was determined using the Bl&ckeles option pricing model. The fair
value of the 70,000 shares of common stock wasmé&ied considering the restrictions, resulting iiscount of 15% from the closing share
price on the date of the settlement. The Comphey tletermined the fair value of the patents aedquand the litigation settlement using a
relief from royalty method, which is an income apgueh, to determine the present value of expectedefiwash flows and cash flows during the
period of claimed patent infringement. The failues of the elements of the arrangement were ierssxof the fair value of the consideration
paid, as such, the Company allocated the considertat the components based on relative fair vakesylting in $1,835,575 allocated to the
patents acquired and $119,460 allocated to thgatitn settlement, which was recorded as a compaieselling, general and administrative
expense. The life of the patents was determinsddapon the period of time over which the Compaxpects to benefit from the patents and
is amortized using an accelerated method of anatitiz based on estimated cash flows and is recedraig a component of cost of goods
sold. No amortization expense was recognized D23 the assets were acquired near the end pééne

HzO Technolog

On September 28, 2009, the Company entered intmgebloan agreement with HzO, Inc., a Delawarg@aomation (“HzO”), whereunder the
Company loaned to HzO $1,151,000 and receivedwasgconvertible promissory note (the “Note”). cmnection with the funding of the
bridge loan, HzO entered into a Technology ContriltuAgreement to acquire certain rights to thedgal Shellback technology (the “HzO
technology”) developed by Northeast Maritime Inggt Inc. (“NMI”) for $3,150,000 of cash consideost and 10,521,882 shares of HzO
Series A Preferred Stock. The technology is a ouée, vacuum deposited coating that is honflammats low toxicity and has the ability to
weatherproof electronic devices and other surfaBagsuant to a separate agreement with HzO, thgp@oy was granted the exclusive
worldwide marketing rights for the HzO technologyedo its efforts in assisting HzO in securing H#EO technology and funding the bridge
loan.

On August 11, 2010, the Company made an additahednce of $220,000 on the same terms as thoke bfidge loan to HzO. HzO used
this advance to make a partial payment to NMI agfeerdthe Closing under the Technology Contribu#d@meement until November 4,
2010. The Company received a warrant for 126,282es of HzO Series A Preferred Stock as additiooasideration for making the loan.

On November 5, 2010, the Company determined tdlpajpalance of $1,800,000 due to NMI under the Teldgy Contribution
Agreement. The Company made an additional advah$#,800,000 under the bridge loan to HzO. Then@any received an additional
warrant for 1,136,363 shares of HzO Series A PredeBtock as additional consideration for makirgyltan, for an aggregate of 1,988,635
warrants. Immediately following the funding of tadditional advance of $1,800,000 under the bridga, the Company converted the
outstanding principal balance of the bridge loaf3f.51,000 to 6,628,787 shares of HzO Series feReal Stock.

As consideration to NMI for the purchase of the He€hnology, NMI received in aggregate $3,150,000ash and 10,521,882 in HzO Series
A Preferred Stock. Of the HzO Series A PreferrextiSreceived by NMI, 2,104,376 shares are helestrow until a patent meeting certain
conditions is obtained on the HzO technology. pladéent meeting the required conditions is notiabthwithin four years, the escrowed shares
will be forfeited.

As a result of the transaction, HzO has acquiredHhO technology and recorded the value at $7,8386hich includes $3,150,000 of cash
consideration, $2,532,257 of fair value for thei&eA Preferred Stock in HzO, and $1,506,430 dubédax consequence of an asset
acquisition that is not a business combinatione f#ir value of the Series A Preferred Stock in Hz& determined based upon using a market
approach which considered the portion of the SekiBseferred Stock in HzO issued to NMI which aeddhin escrow and ZAGG has a call
option to acquire NMI's interests in HzO for $3,0000. The $1,506,430 due to the tax consequereegsult of the book basis exceeding the
tax basis in the asset, thus resulting in the neitiog of a deferred tax liability and an increasahe asset. As the HzO technology was
acquired near year end, the Company has not bedizing it to generate cash flows from sales oeflising arrangements. Therefore, upon the
Company finalizing how the HzO technology will bilimed, a useful life will then be determined bdsgon the forecasted cash flows. The
Company anticipates having sales associated wétii#O technology beginning in 2011. The HzO tetdupwill be amortized using an
accelerated method of amortization based on estirzdsh flows and will be recognized as a compoofetist of goods sold. The HzO Series
A Preferred Stock issued to NMI is reflected in domsolidated balance sheets as a noncontrollbegeist and is further discussed in Note 7.
The Company also issued 500,000 shares of Serieirred Stock in HzO for the purchase of equignrem NMI in 2010.
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In the prior period the Company accounted for thadactions with HzO as an unconsolidated entitgon further review of the relationship
between the Company and HzO, it was determinedth@t was a Variable Interest Entity (VIE) as ofiitseption in February 2009 and that
the Company is the primary beneficiary. TheretbeeCompany should have consolidated HzO in it92@Msolidated financial

statements. As HzO had no operations during 2@@9mpact of consolidating HzO resulted in a rssification only from convertible bridge
loan to deposit on intangible assets as of Dece®be2009. Accordingly, the Company's investmentiz®© reflected as a bridge loan in the
prior year has been reclassed to a deposit ongitti@nassets in the current year presentationthédtime of the purchase of the HzO
technology, the Company assessed its interest @ & has determined that the entity continuegta WIE for which the Company is the
primary beneficiary and has consolidated the ofmratof HzO in the accompanying consolidated fi@nstatements. The consolidated assets
of the VIE consist primarily of the acquired Hz@heology, which is included in intangible assetthia accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. The equity interests of HzO not ownedhbydompany are reported as a noncontrolling intémebe accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The creditors of HzO dohwote recourse to other assets of the Company.

NOTE 6 — INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax (provision) benefittfe years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and &@08

2010 2009 2008

Current provision

Federa $ (7,057,93) $ (1,079,70) $ —
State (1,073,59) (155,456 —
Total curren (8,131,52) (1,235,15) —
Deferred (provision) benefi

Federa 1,283,14. (776,63) (476,129
State 198,64 (120,22%) (25,059
Total deferrec 1,481,78! (896,85:) (501,18%)
Total (provision) benefit $ (6,649,74) $ (2,132,01) $ (501,189
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The following is a reconciliation of the income é@xcomputed using the federal statutory rate t@tbeision for income taxes for the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008:

2010 2009 2008
Tax at statutory rate (349 $ (5,636,31) $ (1,838,69) $ (884,05)
State tax, net of federal tax bent (555,94) (178,46 (85,80
Non-deductible expense and ott (198,45)) (114,849 (6,582)
Domestic production activities deducti 587,23l — —
Return to provision adjustme (436,33)) — —
Interest and penaltie (201,149 — —
Federal 38% rate bracket surcha (208,779 — —
Utilization of NOL carryforwarc — — 475,25(

$ (6,649,74) $ (2,132,01) $ (501,189

The tax effects of temporary differences that gése to significant portions of deferred tax assetd liabilities at December 31, 2010 and
2009, are as follows:

2010 2009

Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 337,30 $ 255,56:

Deferred revenu 48,33¢ —

Net operating loss carryforwa 45,301 3,151

Loss from foreign subsidial — 80,25

Inventories 1,044,57. 27,76

Stocl-based compensatic 234,42( 191,65¢

Sales returns accrual 765,47: 205,22!
Total deferred tax asse 2,475,41. 763,61:
Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipme 313,60! 61,89¢

Intangible assets 1,527,58 —
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 1,841,19: 61,89¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 634,22. $ 701,71
Deferred tax assets, r— current $ 2,19568 $ 255,56:
Deferred tax (liabilities) assel

net — non-current (1,561,46) 446,15¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 634,22. $ 701,71

At December 31, 2010, the Company has net operbitssgcarryforwards for federal and state incomeptarposes of $121,467, resulting from
taxable losses of HzO, which are available to offisteire federal and state taxable income of Hz@ny, through 2030.

There was no valuation allowance at December 310,285 management believes it is more likely tharthmat the results of future operations
will generate sufficient taxable income to realitsedeferred tax assets.

The Company has not recognized a deferred taxitiafor the undistributed earnings of its foreigperations that arose in 2010 and prior y
as the Company considers these earnings to bdriitdBf reinvested. In addition, the tax implicats of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is
not considered to be material based on the amaodfitih® historical losses incurred and the fact &mt net operating loss carryforward would
not be more likely than not of being realized.

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax positiothe financial statements if that position isredikely than not of being sustained
audit, based on the technical merits of the pasitids of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Compadynio unrecognized tax benefits. Fol
year ended December 31, 2010, the Company rec@2@t], 148 in interest and penalties, which are ohetbias a component of income
provision.
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The Company is currently not under examination iy federal or state tax authority, but remains scibjo income tax examinations for e
of its open tax years, which extend back to 2007dderal income tax purposes and 2006 for staignie tax purposes.

During the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2#8®,Company recorded a $436,335 increase to indam@rovision due to a return
provision adjustment.

NOTE 7 — COMMON STOCK AND NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
Common stock

During 2008, the Company issued 310,000 sharas cbmmon stock. Of such shares, 210,000 weredssuemployees and consultants, and
100,000 were issued in connection with the exermisewarrant to purchase 100,000 shares of thep@agis common stock. The Company
received proceeds of $50,000 in connection withetkercise of the warrant.

During 2009, the Company issued 2,547,867 sharigs odbmmon stock. Of such shares, 80,000 weteetsto employees, 634,299 were is¢
in connection with the exercise of stock optiond &r833,568 were issued in connection with the a@gerof warrants. The Company
recognized compensation expense in the amount8#,8$A0 related to the issuance of 80,000 sharesitdoyees and received proceeds of
$468,514 related to the option exercises and $20PB6elated to the exercise of the warrants.

During 2010, the Company issued 2,213,901 sharis odmmon stock. Of such shares, 20,000 wetristo employees as compensation,
524,301 were issued in connection with the exemisgock options, 1,599,600 were issued in conoeatith the exercise of warrants and
70,000 were issued in connection with the acquoisitf patents. The Company recognized compenseatipense of $42,200 related to the
issuance of 20,000 shares to employees and recgivededs of $710,277 related to the option exescasd $2,079,479 related to the exercise
of the warrants.

Noncontrolling interes

Noncontrolling interests are classified in the aditated statements of operations as part of retne attributable to stockholders and
accumulated amount of noncontrolling interestai@tided in the consolidated balance sheets ampaquity. If a change in ownership of a
consolidated subsidiary results in loss of coreirad deconsolidation, any retained ownership inter@® remeasured with the gain or loss
reported in net earnings.

The value of the noncontrolling interest in the swlidated financial statements primarily represémsSeries A Preferred Stock in HzO issued
to NMI as part of the HzO technology purchase. ¥kdes A Preferred Stock in HzO has the same goiiyhts as HzO Common Stock and
has one vote for each share of Series A PrefereakS The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible Common Stock, at the option of the
holder, at a fixed conversion ratio of 1 share @fi& A Preferred Stock to 1 share of Common St@dkoutstanding Series A Preferred Stock
shares are redeemable at any time after 8/21/20th4¢ alection of at least 2/3rds of the Serieséfdétred Stock holders. As the Company has
at least 1/3rd of the HzO Series A Preferred Stiaagn control the redemption of the HzO SerieBraferred Stock and therefore the
associated noncontrolling interest is recordediwifermanent equity. The Series A Preferred Sieckdeemable at the fixed price of $0.4
per share. As of December 31, 2010, the CompadyNafl hold 6.6 million and 11.1 million shares o£@8 Series A Preferred Stock,
respectively. However, 2.1 million shares of thelimillion shares of HzO Series A Preferred Steskied to NMI are held in escrow pending
a future event (see Note 5). HzO Series A Pradesteck holders are entitled to receive dividendsually at a stated dividend rate of $0.038
per share when, as, and if declared by the BoaRirettors of HzO. No dividends had been decla®df December 31, 2010. The Company
holds a call option to acquire all of NMI's equityterests and rights in HzO for $3,000,000 whicbkxercisable any time through October 1,
2013. The Company also has the right of firstgafif NMI has an offer to purchase its interest$lzO. The call option does not meet the
definition of a derivative, and therefore it is moarked to fair value at each period end.
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Noncontrolling interest consists of a 47% equitgiast in the HzO, Inc. subsidiary held by thirdties, excluding shares of HzO Serie:
Preferred Stock held in escrow.

NOTE 8 — STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Common Stock OptionsIn 2007, the Company’s board of directors adopted in 2008 the Company’s shareholders approvedAGG
Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive Plan which presiébr the issuance of up to 2,000,000 sharesmframn stock to the company’s directors,
employees, consultants and advisors (the “2007theePlan”). On July 16, 2009, the Company'’s shatders approved an amendment to the
2007 Incentive Plan to increase the number of shiaseiable under the 2007 Incentive Plan to 5,000,&s of December 31, 2010, there were
1,492,793 shares available for grant under the 20€htive Plan.

The 2007 Incentive Plan provides for awards inftime of options to acquire shares of common stoukr@stricted stock grants. The 2007
Incentive Plan is administered by the Compensaliommittee of the CompanyBoard of Directors. Option awards are genegdanted witt
an exercise price equal to the market price oftbmpany’s stock at the date of grant; those opioards generally vest based on 3 years of
continuous service and have 5-year contractualserm

The fair value of stock options has been estimagedf the grant date using the Black-Scholes ogtiaring model. For the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 the followingragsions were used in determining the fair value:

2010 2009 2008
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 1.2(% 1.31% 2.05%
Expected term (year: 3.5 year 3.5 year 3.7 year
Expected volatility 95.8% 90.52% 73.95%

The Company determines the expected term of itksiption awards by using the simplified methodjchtassumes each vesting tranche of
the award has a term equal to the midpoint betwsd®n the award vests and when the award expirgediad volatility is calculated by
weighting the Company’s historical stock price &bcalate expected volatility over the expected tefreach grant. As the Compasyhistorica
stock price history does not cover the entire etgubterm, expected volatility is also weighted libge the average historical volatility of
similar entities with publicly traded shares oz £xpected term of each grant, The risk-free éstaate for the expected term of each option
granted is based on the U.S. Treasury yield cunedfect at the time of grant with a period thapryximates the expected term of the option.
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The following table summarizes the stock optionvatgtfor the Company’s stock incentive plan foetilear ended December 31, 2010:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price Term Value
(In (In
thousands) (Per share) (In years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,11 % 1.3¢ 3.8
Granted 892 2.8¢
Exercisec (524) 1.34
Forfeited/expirec (127 1.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 2,35¢ $ 1.94 32 % 13,35¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2010 2,206 $ 1.92 32§ 12,58
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 381 $ 1.0C 27 $ 2,52%

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of mgtigranted during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $1.82, $1.29, and
$0.35, respectively. The total intrinsic value ptions exercised during the years ended Decemhe&2(@D, 2009 and 2008, was $2,016,209,
$2,355,966, and $0, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, there was $1,744,557taf tmrecognized compensation cost related to reiadestock options granted under the
stock incentive plan. That cost is expected todoegnized over a weighted-average period of 1.5sy@#e total fair value of shares vested
during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08, was $614,719, $230,090, and $180,000, ragphrct

The Company recorded shdvased compensation expense only for those opfiaate expected to vest. The estimated fair vafldiee stocl
options is recognized on a straight-line basis tlverequisite service period of the award, whicheénerally the vesting term of the award.
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08, the Company recorded equity-based compensatjpense of $951,276, $664,792
and $406,064, respectively, which is included asraponent of selling, general and administrativeemse. The net tax benefit recognized on
equity-based compensation expense for the yeaddddeember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $36,25@ 5% and $64,226,

respectively. The tax benefit realized from stopkians exercised for the year ended December 310,22D09 and 2008 was $707,814,
$1,237,574, and $0, respectively.

Warrants- During the year ended December 31, 2010, the @omnjssued warrants for investor relations consglservices for 100,000
common shares exercisable at $2.58 per share mxiir5 years and vesting equally over the tweloati period from the grant date. Each
vesting tranche of the warrants was independelyed using the Black-Scholes option pricing madéh separate assumptions for each
tranche based on the fair value of the Companyisnson stock on each vesting date, expected term egtlee remaining contractual term on
each vesting date, expected volatility weightedveen the Compang’historical volatility and the average historigalatility of similar entities
with publicly traded shares over the expected temeach vesting date, and riflee rate for the expected term based on the UeasTry yiel
curve in effect with a period that approximatesrmaining contractual term for each vesting d&ter the year ended December 31, 2010, the
Company recorded expense of $292,992 for theseamtarrThe Company also issued warrants for 250;660mon shares exercisable at $8.53
per share expiring in 5 years and vesting immelyiateAndrew Mason as part of the asset purchaseeagent discussed in Note 5. The
determination of the fair value of the warrantfuigher discussed in Note 5.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyniganed warrants for consulting services for 20,66mmon shares exercisable at $2.05
per share expiring in 1 year and vesting immedjatearrants for sales commissions to an indeperitiénal party for 175,000 common shares
exercisable at $6.40 per share expiring in 1 yadnesting immediately, and additional warrantssiaies commissions to an independent third
party for 175,000 common shares exercisable aO32e0 share expiring in 2.5 years and vesting imately. Each warrant grant was
independently valued using the Black-Scholes optidcing model. For the year ended December 30292the Company recorded expense of
$221,917. No warrants were issued during 2008.\idreants are accounted for as equity instruments.
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The fair value of warrants have been estimated #seovesting date using the Black-Scholes optigcing model. For the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 the following assumgtieere used in determining the fair value:

2010 2009
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 1.91% 0.17%
Expected term (year: 4.46 year 0.2 year
Expected volatility 88.8t% 66.65%
The following table summarizes the warrant activiythe year ended December 31, 2010:
Weighteo-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Price Term Value
(In (In

thousands) (Per share) (In years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,73¢ % 1.8C 2.7
Granted 35C 6.8
Exercisec (2,600 1.3C
Forfeited/expirec (17%) 6.4(C
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 1,311 $ 3.14 25 $ 5,87¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2010 1,311 $ 3.14 25 $ 5,87¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,30 $ 3.14 25 $ 5,83

The weighted-average and grant-date or vest-datedme of warrants granted during the years eridecember 31, 2010 and 2009, was $3.47
and $0.62. No warrants were granted during 2008.t®tal intrinsic value of warrants exercised dgiine years ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, was $5,080,278, $6,158,609, and$62respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, there was $51,928 of tote¢cognized estimated compensation cost relatedrivested warrants granted. That
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-aeguagod of 0.1 years. The total fair value of \@ats vested during the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 was $1,390,228,359, and $0, respectively.

For warrants that are compensatory, the Comparyrascshare-based compensation expense relatedrantgaonly for warrants that have
vested. The amount of the expense recognizedsidban the estimated fair value of the warrantthervesting date. During the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Companydedarquity-based compensation expense relatedrtamts of $292,993, $199,041, and
$0, respectively, which is included as a compowéselling, general and administrative expensee iiét tax benefit recognized on equity-
based compensation expense related to warrantisfgrear ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 20086va347, $74,640, and $0,
respectively. No tax benefits were realized fromramats exercised for the year ended December 31,2009 and 2008, respectively.
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NOTE 9 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Compsifigancial instruments include cash and cash edgiins, accounts receivable, accounts pay
and notes receivable. The carrying amounts of aadhcash equivalents, accounts receivable and atscpayable approximate fair value due
to the short-term maturities of these financiatimsents.

The Company measures at fair value certain finkacid non-financial assets by using a fair valwdrichy that prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair valuie vialue is the price that would be received td aprlasset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants@imeasurement date, essentially an exit pricgdan the highest and best use of the asset
or liability.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the following firahasset was measured at fair value on a recubd@sgs using the type of inputs shown:

Fair Value Measurements Using:

December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
31, 2010 Inputs Inputs Inputs
Cash equivalent $ 416,31 $ 416,31 — —
Fair Value Measurements Using:
December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
31, 2009 Inputs Inputs Inputs
Cash equivalent $ 4,08519. $ 4,085,19 — —

The majority of the Company’s non-financial instremts, which include intangible assets, invento@esl property and equipment, are not
required to be carried at fair value on a recurbiagis. However, if certain triggering events ocgueh that a non-financial instrument is
required to be evaluated for impairment, based @poomparison of the non-financial instrument’s failue to its carrying value, an
impairment is recorded to reduce the carrying vatuthe fair value, if the carrying value excedus fair value.

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200, weze no non-financial instruments measurediavédue on a nonrecurring basis.
NOTE 10 — NOTES RECEIVABLE

On March 11, 2008, the Company entered into aneageet to fund a bridge loan (the “Bridge Loan”upfto $500,000 to Brighton Partners,
LLC. The purpose of the secured loan is to funddénelopment of a superhero series created bylsmnd POW! Entertainment, Inc., in
partnership with Brighton Partners, LLC, with theple that ZAGG would benefit from the marketing esqp@ and any intellectual property
created using ZAGG's trademarks.

In consideration of the bridge loan, Brighton Partn LLC executed a secured promissory note witoarigination fee and bearing 10%
interest for the 90 day term of the note. As of &aber 31, 2009, the Company determined that theelmed become impaired and reserved
against the full balance of the note and accruetést. The Company recorded a charge of $438@@8e note receivable and $274,000 for
the related accrued interest in the accompanyinga@ated financial statements. The Companyauifitinue to assert its legal rights with
relation to the note receivable.

NOTE 11 — LINE OF CREDIT

Effective May 13, 2010, the Company entered intman Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with U.S. B&hational Association (“US
Bank”). The Loan Agreement provided for revolving loans atfter financial accommodations to or for the bireéfthe Company of up to §
million, to be used for working capital and othermorate purposes. The Company'’s obligations utigetoan Agreement and all related
agreements were secured by all or substantiallgfaie Company’s assets. The obligation of U.&lBto make advances under the Loan
Agreement was subject to the conditions set fortthé Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement and ribditcfacility were to mature on May
13, 2011. At December 31, 2010, there was $2aniltiutstanding in letters of credit for purchasdated to the ZAGGbox. The letter of cre
subsequently expired on February 28, 2011, andwidrawn down against the line of credit.
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Advances under the Loan Agreement bore interddBadR plus 2%. The default rate of interest was 386 annum over the otherwise
applicable interest rate. In addition to the aatnf interest at the default rate, in the evepagment was more than fifteen days past due, the
Company was to pay a late fee equal to five peroktite missed payment. The Loan Agreement aldecctor an unused commitment fee
equal to 0.2% per annum for the difference betwthercommitment amount of $5 million and the amautilized on the line. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, the Company paid $7,400used commitment fees related to the line ofitred

At maturity, the entire outstanding principal badanall remaining accrued and unpaid interest dratteer amounts outstanding were due and
payable in full to U.S. Bank.

The Loan Agreement contained customary representatind warranties, certain affirmative and negatiwenants as well as events that
constitute events of default. The occurrence adant of default could result in the acceleratibthe obligations under the Loan

Agreement. The Loan Agreement required the Compamnyaintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of rs3 lhan 1.25 to 1.00 measured
quarterly on a trailing twelve month basis andwetage ratio of no greater than 2.0 to 1.0 measguedterly on a trailing twelve month

basis. The Loan Agreement’s affirmative covenaatgiired the Company to, among other things, delfgdinancial statements, comply with
applicable laws, and maintain its taxes and instearmhe Loan Agreement’s negative covenants lohiterestricted the Company's ability to,
among other things, refund indebtedness or funidtelslition to equity holders, grant liens, or comsnate mergers or the sale of assets. As of
December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliantieallicovenants under the Loan Agreement and ndginad been drawn against the
credit facility.

On March 8, 2011, the Company entered into an Areérecthd Restated Loan Agreement (the “Amended anrthfeel Loan Agreement”) with
U.S. Bank which provides for revolving loans anldestfinancial accommodations to or for the berafthe Company of a principal amount
not to exceed $20 million. Advances under the Adeghand Restated Loan Agreement bear interesB&RIplus 1.75%. The Amended and
Restated Loan Agreement requires the Company totaiaia fixed charge coverage ratio of no less thab to 1.00 measured quarterly on a
trailing twelve month basis and a leverage ratio@fjreater than 2.5 to 1.0 measured quarterlytoailang twelve month basis.

NOTE 12 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating leases

The Company leases office and warehouse spacee e@ffjuipment and mall cart locations under opegdéiases that expire through July
2015. Future minimum rental payments required utiteoperating leases at December 31, 2010 afellasvs:

2011 $ 431,70¢
2012 298,17¢
2013 315,53°
2014 326,03°
2015 190,66°
Total $ 1,562,12!

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 ar@] 28t expense was $911,300, $534,435 and $42728Bctively. Rent expense is
recognized on a basis which approximates straigétdver the term.
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Legal matter

The Companys wholly owned subsidiary, ZAGG Intellectual Prayedfdolding Company, Inc., is engaged as the plfiimtipatent infringemer
litigation pending in California and in Utah thateks to enforce rights under United States Paten7N84,610. The defendants in these cases
have raised defenses and, in some cases, asseutgdrclaims against ZAGG Intellectual Property ditoy Company, Inc., that seek
declarations of unenforceability or narfringement of the patent. These counterclaimsatoassert any claims for affirmative relief agaom

a request for an award of costs and attorney’'stfietiee prevailing party. There are no claims dedéen these actions against the

Company. In the opinion of management, the uliéntsposition of these patent infringement claimsluding disposition of the
counterclaims, will not have a material adverseafbn the Company’s consolidated financial posjtr@sults of operations, or liquidity.

The Company is not a party to any litigation orestblaims at this time. However, from time to tithe Company may become subject to
lawsuits and other claims in the ordinary coursbugfiness. Such matters are subject to many aircies, and most outcomes are not
predictable with assurance.

NOTE 13 — CONCENTRATIONS
Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisigipally of cash and accounts

receivable. The Company places its cash with brglit quality financial institutions. The Compamgintains its cash in bank deposit
accounts, which, at times, exceed federally inslireitis. The Company has not experienced any loissesch accounts through December 31,
2010.

At December 31, 2010, approximately 64% and 17%hethalance of accounts receivable was due fronttygtomers. At December 31, 2C
approximately 67%, of the balance of accounts wat®#¢ was due from one customer. No other custamesunt balances were more that
of accounts receivable. If one or more of the @any’s significant customers were to become instlee were otherwise unable to pay for
the products provided, it would have a materialeage effect on the Company’s financial conditiod eesults of operations.

Concentration of supplier
The Company purchases its raw materials relatégetinvisibleSHIELD product line primarily from ors®urce. Management is aware of
similar raw materials that would be available frother sources if required and has current plairmeediately engage such resources if

necessary. A change in supplier, however, couldea delay in manufacturing and a possible losslet, which could adversely affect
operating results.

Concentration of sales

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, &0®] d@e customer accounted for 41%, 35%, and 12¥tec€ompany’s sales. No other
customer account balances were more that 10% es.salff the Company loses one or more of the Caryipasignificant customers, it would
have a material adverse effect on the Company&niiral condition and results of operations.

The percentage of sales by geographic region goyéars ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008ppagximately:

2010 2009 2008
United State: 83% 85% 83%
Europe 12% 8% 10%
Other 5% 7% 7%

There are no material assets located in foreigadiations.
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NOTE 14 —- QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly financial information is presented in thbowing summary:

Year ended December 31, 201

Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

Net sales $ 8,77555 $ 15,058,78 $ 23,055,76 $ 29,24492 $ 76,135,02
Operating incomi 1,331,79: 3,224,217 6,153,29 6,104,05! 16,813,42
Net income attributable to stockhold: 791,07¢ 1,911,041 3,859,009 3,401,86. 9,963,07.
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)

Basic $ 0.04 $ 0.0¢ $ 017 $ 012 $ 0.44
Diluted 0.0 0.0¢ 0.1¢ 0.1: 0.41
Weighted average common shal

Basic 21,719,27 22,061,57 22,565,30 23,702,50 22,518,44
Diluted 23,370,61 23,536,60 24,029,17 25,446,56 24,262,49

Year ended December 31, 20C
Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

Net sales $ 809095 $ 921497 $ 9,728,521 $ 11,327,29 $ 38,361,74
Operating incomi 1,603,89: 1,863,11 1,471,28 771,79: 5,710,05.
Net income attributable to stockhold: 1,028,24i 1,194,26. 908,08: 250,84« 3,381,42!
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)

Basic $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0 $ 0.01 $ 0.1¢
Diluted 0.0t 0.0t 0.0 0.01 0.1t
Weighted average common shal

Basic 19,185,64 20,062,83 21,540,03 21,701,82 20,633,81
Diluted 19,869,44 22,614,39 24,252,71 23,852,58 22,989,03

(M The earnings per share calculations for eathenfjuarters were based upon the weighted averagber of shares outstanding during
each period, and the sum of the quarters may negbal to the full year earnings per common shareusnts.

NOTE 15 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In June 2008, a former member of our board of trsg Lorance Harmer, introduced the Company totargial consumer electronics product,
which became known as the ZAGGbox. The ZAGGbhoxeggfes digital content such as music, picturegos and movies in a single
location and allows the user to share the contéhtmost other networked media players, includirapite devices. After investigating the
market opportunity for the ZAGGbox, the Companyedetined in June 2009 to license certain rightsHerdevelopment and sale of the
ZAGGbox in North America. Thereafter, the Companyered into a Distribution and License Agreemeittt Weleportall, LLC, the owner of
the technology used in the ZAGGbox, under whictepettall agreed to manufacture and deliver ZAGGbdrehe Company and the
Company was appointed the exclusive distributottierZAGGbox in North American. On June 17, 2088, Company issued its initial
purchase order for 15,000 ZAGGbox units and advéited eleportall a total of $1,152,500 representrg200,000 NRE fee and $952,500 in
payment of 30% of the total purchase price fort&@®00 units ordered by the Company.

Teleportall proceeded to develop and test protatyfehe ZAGGbox and provided periodic progres®repto the Company. The Company

continued to conduct market analysis for the prodnd requested several changes to the functich$eatures of the ZAGGbox. Teleportall
did not deliver the product in time for the 2009ri8tmas selling season.
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Development of the product continued in 2010 wii éxpectation that the product would be delivénadne for the 2010 Christmas selling
season. The Company made additional paymentsrigrieadtime parts to Teleportall in the aggregate amo@i®2¢747,410. When it becau
obvious to the Company that the product would rotdady to market and sell during the 2010 Christsgason, the Company commenced
discussions to restructure the Distribution andehge Agreement with Teleportall. During the cowfthose discussions, the Company
learned in January 2011 that Mr. Harmer had anméctlinterest of 25% in Teleportall. As a resatt,March 23, 2011, the Company entered
into a settlement agreement with Mr. Harmer anésshentities owned or controlled by Mr. Harmergquant to which the parties agreed to
terminate the Distribution and License Agreementhanfollowing terms:

« Mr. Harmer, Teleportall, and certain of their afftes delivered a promissory note (the “ Njtelated March 23, 2011 to the Comp
in the original principal amount of $4,125,902 whiaccrues interest at the rate of LIBOR plus 4% grerum (adjusted quarter
payable as follows: (i) interest only paymentsqa)September 23, 2011, and thereafter (b) on farde¢he last day of each calen
quarter, (i) 50% of the net profits of each ZAGQlsale by Teleportall and its affiliates to be agq) first, to accrued interest a
second, to the principal balance of the Note, aii)dttje unpaid balance due in full on March 23,130 The principal amount of t
Note is the aggregate amount of the payments mad@eb Company to Teleportall and the internal aafsthe ZAGGbox projer
incurred by the Company. The Note is secured byaicereal property, interests in entities that omeal property and restrict
securities

« Teleportall and the Company entered into a Licelgeement on March 23, 2011 under which the Compaeysed to Teleport:
the use of certain ZAGG names and marks to selldistdbute the ZAGGbox product. Teleportall shadly ZAGG a 10% royalty «
net sales of ZAGGboxes per calendar qua

« Teleportall and ZAGG entered into a nexelusive Commission Agreement on March 23, 20htien which Teleportall may ma
introductions of many ZAGG products in all coungrighere ZAGG does not currently have exclusiveidgagreements in respec
the marketing, distribution or sale of its product$ie Commission Agreement is for a term of twd y@ars; provided that (a) t
Commission Agreement shall automatically terminadacurrent with any uncured default under the Natej (b) the term may
extended for an additional term on reasonable térifaleportall’s introductions during the initial term result retpurchase of no le
than $25,000,000 of ZAGG products during the ihigam. Payment terms of the Commission Agreeraesias follows

» 10.0% commission payments on orders received byCimapany from retailers and distributors first aduced to the company
Teleportall during the first 60 days after the aclnction is made (the “ Loaid Period”) to be split 50/50 between cash to Teleportall
principal payments on the Note. However, all consiois payments will be paid to ZAGG if Teleportallin breach of the terms of
Note or any other agreements between the partiek

« 3.0% commission on all orders within the first 2énths after the Loadt Period, and 2.0% thereafter, from any ordersegaed in th
countries where Teleportall is paid a commissiodaurthe terms set forth in the preceding bullenpééxcluding the United Stat
regardless of Teleportall's involvement in ZAGXeceipt of the order for 5 years. The 3.0% a®&2commissions will be split 50/
between cash to Teleportall and principal paymentthe Note
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EXHIBIT 10.12

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement (* Agreeménis made and entered into effective the®3day of March 2011, by and among
TELEPORTALL, LLC, a Utah limited liability compan§/ Teleportall”), HARMER HOLDINGS, LLC, a Utah limited liabilitycompany (“
Holdings”), GLOBAL INDUSTRIAL SERVICES LIMITED, a British \irgin Islands liability company (* Globd), Lorance Harmer, an
individual (“ Harmer”), and ZAGG INCORPORATED, a Nevada corporatioZ GG " or the “ Company).

In this Agreement, Teleportall, Holdings, Globatdrarmer are collectively referred to as the “ Har@roup.” Any reference to the
Harmer Group means the entire group or, wheredhéegt dictates, one or more of the members ofghaip. All of the parties hereto are
collectively referred to as “ Partigsor individually as a “ Party’

RECITALS

A. In May 2008 Harmer became a membeheBoard of Directors of ZAGG and on May 12, 2@85G granted Harmer
options to purchase 1,000,000 shares of ZAGG constark at a strike price of $0.60 per share urlietérms of an Incentive Stock Option
Agreement (the “ Option Agreemeit As of the date hereof, 333,334 option sharesuamexercised.

B. In June 2008, Harmer introduced thenBany to a potential consumer electronics produsich became known as the
“ZAGGbox.” After investigating the market opporitynfor the ZAGGbox, in June 2009 the Company daiaed to license certain rights for
the development and sale of the ZAGGbox in Northefima. On June 17, 2009, the Company issuediitalipurchase order for 15,000
ZAGGbox units. By July 1, 2009 the Company hadasabed to Global (as directed by Teleportall) altot&$1,152,500 representing a
$200,000 NRE fee and $952,500 in payment of 30%efotal purchase price for the 15,000 units ardday the Company.

C. Between July 2009 and April 2010, Z8.@dvanced Global (as directed by Teleportall) dditeonal $747,410.

D. On May 20, 2010, the Company enténémla Distribution and License Agreement with Pelgall (the “ Distribution
Agreement’) under which Teleportall agreed to manufacturd daliver ZAGGboxes to the Company and the Compeay appointed the
exclusive distributor for the ZAGGbox product infitoAmerica. Also on May 20, 2010, Holdings execl& Repurchase Agreement in favor
of ZAGG (the “ Holdings Guarant) under which Holdings agreed to repurchase ZAG@&®ntory if ZAGG was unable, after reasonable
efforts, to sell its inventory of ZAGGbox units.




E. In November 2010, the Company paidb@ldas directed by Teleportall) an additional $8,000.
F. Harmer resigned as a director of ZA@March 10, 2011.

G. The Harmer Group has not delivered L&8x units to the Company which the Company carketand sell to consumer
electronics distributors or retailers.

H. The Parties desire to terminate tigribution Agreement and Holdings Guaranty in é¢desation of the Harmer Group
making certain payments to ZAGG, as more fullyfsgth below

NOW THEREFORE , for and in consideration of the terms and coodgiof this Agreement, and the mutual benefitsetdérived
herefrom, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Termination of Distribution Agreement and Halgs Guaranty Effective the date hereof, the Distribution Agmeent and the
Holdings Guaranty are terminated.

2. Payment of $4,125,902 by the Harmer GroupAG& . Effective the date hereof, the Harmer Group délliver to ZAGG a
promissory note (the “ Notd for $4,125,902, a copy of which is attached he®es Exhibit A. The Note shall be secured with the following:
() deeds of trust having a first priority lien agst Harmer's Wolf Creek lot (the “ Wolf Creek Peapy ") and Harmer's leasehold interest in
real property located in Weatherford, Texas, aediéle interest in the improvements located the(#en“ Weatherford Property, copies of
which are attached hereto as Exhibit @) a collateral assignment granting a firstopitiy security interest in Harmer's interests inl¢iogs,
which holds membership interests in the varioustdichliability companies, partnerships or otheriteeg which own rights in the LaQuinta,
Mesquite, Oquirrh Mountain Ranch, Hidden Valleppraper and Pineview Village properties and Celiargh and Warrants (all as defined
herein), a copy of which is attached hereto asliixbi, and (iii) a collateral assignment having a fipgbrity security interest in Harmer’s
interests in the Merrill Lynch accounts which htté Silver Lake 11l investment, a copy of whichaisached hereto as Exhibit.D If Harmer
exercises any options under the Option Agreememtihgrant ZAGG a first priority security interest 45,000 shares obtained by such
exercise (the “ Collateral Shar§aunder the terms of a securities pledge agreennethie form attached hereto as Exhibiftle “ZAGG Share
Pledge Agreemetit.

3. Teleportall Commission AgreemenEffective the date hereof, Teleportall and ZAG@iB enter into a non-exclusive
Commission Agreement under which Teleportall makenatroductions of ZAGG products (excluding the@&mate and any derivates
thereof unless otherwise approved and authorizedAyG in its sole discretion) in all countries wae#AGG does not currently have
exclusive dealing agreements in respect of the atiad, distribution or sale of its products, in foem attached hereto as Exhibit F




4. License Agreement for ZAGGboxEffective the date hereof, Teleportall and ZA@&(B enter into a License Agreement which
will allow Teleportall to use certain ZAGG namesianarks to sell and distribute the ZAGGbox producthe form attached hereto as Exhibit
G.

5. Harmer 10tb Plan. Subiject to the expiration of any black-out pdrémising under any Company policy or Harmer’s klemge
of material non-public information, ZAGG hereby appes Harmer’s 10b-5 plan, a copy of which is dteathereto as Exhibit H

6. Option Agreement ZAGG hereby agrees that 250,229 of Harmer'scttirés stock options (the “ Optiori} granted under the
Option Agreement shall vest effective as of theedereof; provided, that (i) Harmer may not sdédpe (except to ZAGG), encumber or
transfer the Collateral Shares, and may not sedidalitional 80,114 shares until that date whictwis (2) months after the date the Note is paid
in full and (ii) upon issuance, the Collateral Sisashall be subject to the ZAGG Shares Pledge Awgre

7. Release by the Harmer Group of ZAGGhe Harmer Group, on behalf of themselves aait firedecessors, successors and
assigns, and all persons acting by, through, uoadir concert with them, or any of them, do herebgvocably and unconditionally release and
forever discharge ZAGG and any of its predecessoig;essors, assigns, officers, directors, shatetglmembers, employees, insurers, ac
representatives, and attorneys, or any of therm fioy and all actions, causes of action, suitémslarights, judgments, damages, losses, costs
and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and castslly incurred) of any nature whatsoever, knowmirtknown, suspected or unsuspected,
fixed or contingent which they now have, own orchar at any time heretofore had, owned or heidjray out of conduct or matters occurring
on or prior to the date hereof. Without limitirtgetapplication of the forgoing, the Harmer Groupenstands and agrees that this release
applies to extinguish all claims that it could hdpezn asserted against ZAGG and any of its predexgsuccessors, assigns, officers,
directors, shareholders, members, employees, irsswagents, representatives, and attorneys, oofatimem. All of the property, rights and
interests pledged by the Harmer Group describetdeabs collateral security for the payment of theeNs herein referred to as the “
Collateral.”

8. Release by the Company of the Harmer Grolihe Company and its predecessors, successoesaighs, and all persons
acting by, through, under or in concert with iteddereby irrevocably and unconditionally releasfarever discharge the Harmer Group,
any of their predecessors, successors, assignshengnemployees, insurers, agents, representasindsyttorneys, or any of them, from any
and all actions, causes of action, sulits, claingbts, judgments, damages, losses, costs and eegénsluding attorneys’ fees and costs
actually incurred) of any nature whatsoever, kn@wvonknown, suspected or unsuspected, fixed oiirggenit which they now have, own or
hold, or at any time heretofore had, owned or haldjng out of conduct or matters occurring opor to the date hereof; provided, however,
that ZAGG does not release the Harmer Group froynrigiits, duties or other obligations under thatti®as 2 through 6 above. Without
limiting the application of the forgoing, the Comrmyaunderstands and agrees that this release appkeginguish all claims that could have
been asserted against the Harmer Group and ahgioforedecessors, successors, assigns, offidgegstats, shareholders, members,
employees, insurers, agents, representatives,tiordeys, or any of them.




9. No Release from this Agreement$his Agreement does not release any Party soAgreement from any liability for any futt
breach of this Agreement or any obligations unagraf the other agreements entered into concuyréttewith.

10. Representations, Warranties and Covenartsedflarmer Group The Harmer Group, on behalf of the themselvesslby
represents and warrants to ZAGG as follows:

(@) Each of the Harmer Group has alkssary power and authority and has taken all ac&oessary to enter into this
Agreement and the other agreements contemplateyharevhich it is a Party, to consummate the tratisas contemplated hereby and ther
and to perform its obligations hereunder and thedeu

(b) This Agreement and the other agreesnemntemplate hereby to which it is a Party haaenbduly and validly
executed and delivered by the Harmer Group andtitoiesa legal, valid and binding obligation of tHarmer Group enforceable against the
Harmer Group in accordance with their terms.

(c) The execution and delivery of thisrdgment and the other agreements contemplatedyh@oeatot, and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated lgeartl thereby will not, conflict with or violateetprovisions of any contract, agreement,
order or restriction to which the Harmer Group [zaaty, or to which the Harmer Group is bound.

(d) In respect of the Wolf Creek PropeHgrmer has paid and satisfied the obligation metby that certain deed of
trust shown as Item 13 on Section 2, Schedule tBaifcertain title report issued by First Ameridatie Insurance Company dated March 10,
2011 (Order No. 041-5374522) (the “ Wolf Creek dieport’), a copy of which is in Harmer’s possession.

(e) In respect of the Weatherford Propettarmer has paid and satisfied the obligatiousst by that certain deed of
trust shown as Item 11 on Schedule C of that cetitlé report issued by First American Title Ingoce Company dated March 15, 2011
(Commitment No. 11R053909) (the “ Weatherford TRleport”), a copy of which is in Harmer’s possession.




® In respect of the Unrecorded Lot lrise Agreement between the Board of Trustees d¥itivécipal Utility System
of the City of Weatherford, Texas, as licensor, Hagdmer, as licensee, dated November 27, 200Masded by that certain Lot License
Agreement Modification dated November 27, 2007Lfots 314 and 315 (“ Lot License”}, which comprise a portion of the Weatherford
Property:

0] Lot License 1 is in full force andfedt. Except as set forth herein, there are nona@ments or
modifications of any kind to the Lot License 1. €Fé are no other promises, agreements, undersggdincommitments between the licensor
and Harmer relating to Lots 314 and 315. Neitleemsor nor Harmer has given the other party atigc@of termination of Lot License 1.

(i) No uncured default, event of defaolt breach by Harmer exists under Lot Licensed.ramfacts or
circumstances exist that, with the passage of timileor could constitute a default, event of ddfaar breach under Lot License 1 by
Harmer. To the best of Harmer’'s knowledge, no vedulefault, event of default, or breach by liceresasts under Lot License 1, no facts or
circumstances exist that, with the passage of timileor could constitute a default, event of ddfaar breach by licensor under Lot License
1. Harmer has made no claim against licensor ialiglicensor's default under Lot License 1. Liks&jilicensor has made no claim against
Harmer alleging Harmer’s default under Lot Licedse

(iii) Harmer is in full and complete pession of Lots 314 and 315. The improvements lacateLots 314 an
315 are in good order, condition and repair ana @tean and sanitary condition.
(iv) Harmer is current with respect todds paying as and when due, all amounts due wairtainder Lot
License 1.
(9) In respect of the Unrecorded Lot ise Agreement between the Board of Trustees d¥itivécipal Utility System

of the City of Weatherford, Texas, as licensor, Hagdmer, as licensee, dated November 27, 200"asded by that certain Lot License
Agreement Modification dated November 27, 2007 for 316 (“ Lot License 2), which comprises a portion of the Weatherfordfarty:

0] Lot License 2 is in full force andfedt. Except as set forth herein, there are nona@ments or
modifications of any kind to Lot License 2. Thare no other promises, agreements, understandingemmitments between the licensor and
Harmer relating to Lot 316. Neither licensor narkher has given the other party any notice of teatndn of Lot License 2.

(i) No uncured default, event of defaolt breach by Harmer exists under Lot License®ramfacts or
circumstances exist that, with the passage of timileor could constitute a default, event of ddfaar breach under Lot License 2 by
Harmer. To the best of Harmer’s knowledge, no vedwaefault, event of default, or breach by liceresasts under Lot License 2, no facts or
circumstances exist that, with the passage of timileor could constitute a default, event of ddfaar breach by licensor under Lot License 2.
Harmer has made no claim against licensor allefigegsor's default under Lot License 2. Likewisgensor has made no claim against
Harmer alleging Harmer’s default under Lot Lice@se




(iii) Harmer is in full and complete pession of Lot 316. The improvements located on31d} are in good
order, condition and repair and in a clean andtagncondition.

(iv) Harmer is current with respect todds paying as and when due, all amounts due airtjainder Lot
License 2.

(V) The Wolf Creek Property and WeathetfBroperty are legally described in Exhibiend J, attached
hereto and incorporated herein.

(h) Holdings is the successor in intetediarmer under that certain Joint Venture Agresindated as of January 27,
2006 (the “ Mesquite Joint Venture Agreenigrtetween Harmer and SR Funding, LLC, a Utah limiiglility company (“* SR Funding
"). SR Funding holds a 28.571% membership intareBXCPSR LLC, a Utah limited liability company PCPSR"). DCPSR is the owner of
the real property and improvements located in C@okinty, Nevada, as more particularly describexhibit K , attached hereto and
incorporated herein (the_* Mesquite Propéijty SR Funding has assigned to Holdings any ahdgdits to any profits under the Mesquite Joint
Venture Agreement. Accordingly, Holdings is eetitito 100% of all profits or other distributiongeé/ed by SR Funding in connection with
the Mesquite Property. DCPSR holds the Mesquitpétty in fee simple, free and clear of any andiedis and encumbrances.

0] Holdings is the successor in intetedtlarmer under that certain Joint Venture Agrestndated as of May 25, 2006
(the “ La Quinta Joint Venture Agreem&nbetween Harmer and SR Funding. SR Funding islerater, together with Daniels Capital
Partners | LLC, a Utah limited liability companyDCP"), on a loan evidenced by (a) a Secured PromisNote dated May 25, 2006 in the
principal amount of $4,976,615.76 (the “ La QuiNt@te”) made by North-Gilger Land Investments, L.L.C Nbrth-Gilger "), as borrower,
and (b) a Loan Agreement with North-Gilger of tlaene date (the " La Quinta Loan Agreem@ntThe La Quinta Note is secured by a first
position trust deed dated as of May 25, 2006 aodrd=d in the land records of Riverside Countyjf@alia as Entry No.
(the “ La Quinta Trust Deet). The La Quinta Trust Deed grants SR Funding and BGe€curity interest in the real property and improent:
located in Riverside County, California, as moretipalarly described in Exhibit | attached hereto and incorporated herein (the Quimnta
Property”). Except for the La Quinta Trust Deed, North-ggit holds the La Quinta Property in fee simpleg faed clear of any and all liens
and encumbrances. SR Funding is entitled to reqaigceeds of the La Quinta Note pursuant to tiegeet forth in that certain Participant
Lender Agreement dated as of July 2, 2010 by ahddsn SR Funding and DCP (the “ La Quinta Participp@ender Agreemerf). SR
Funding has assigned to Holdings any and all rightmy profits under the La Quinta Joint Ventugréement. Accordingly, Holdings is
entitled to 100% of all profits or other distribaris received by SR Funding in connection with theQuinta Participant Lender Agreement.




()] Holdings owns a 13.1062% membershipriest in Draper 9, LLC, a Utah limited liabilitpmpany (“ Draper 9
"). Draper 9 holds a 51% membership interest iel&diss Investors, LLC, a Utah limited liabilityropany (“ Edelweis8). Edelweiss is the
owner of the real property and improvements locatesialt Lake County, Utah, as more particularlgaied in Exhibit M, attached hereto
and incorporated herein (the “ Draper Prop&rtyEdelweiss holds the Draper Property in fee@enfree and clear of any and all liens and
encumbrances.

(k) Holdings owns a 17.8571% membershiprest in Hidden Valley SC, LLC, a Utah limitedbility company (“
Hidden Valley”). Hidden Valley holds, in fee simple, free of any atidiens and encumbrances, the real propertyimpdovements located
Utah County, State of Utah, as more particularigcdi@ed in Exhibit N attached hereto and incorporated herein (thedtielh Valley Property

).

)] Holdings owns a 14.611% membershtpriest in Oquirrh Mountain West, LLC, a Utah linditéability company (“
Ogquirrh Mountair’). Oquirrh Mountain holds, in fee simple, freeafy and all liens and encumbrances, the real pyopad improvements
located in Utah County, State of Utah, as morei@ddrly described in Exhibit Qattached hereto and incorporated herein (thedi@y
Mountain Property).

(m) Holdings owns a 10% membership irgeire Pineview Waterside, LLC (“ Pinevieix Pineview holds, in fee
simple, free of any and al liens and encumbrartbes;eal property and improvements located in ISgite County, State of Utah, as more
particularly described in Exhibit Pattached hereto and incorporated herein (th@éwew Property).

(n) Harmer owns 50% of the membershiprgdts of Holdings. Holdings owns 2,237,480 shaf&eries B stock (the
“ Celio Shares) and warrants for the purchase of an additiorsal 27,715 shares of Series B stock (the “ Celiordrds”) in Celio
Technology Corporation, a Delaware corporation €ti€"). The Celio Shares and Celio Warrants are hgltibldings free and clear of any
and all claims, liens, rights, licenses, securitgliests, mortgages, charges, encumbrances actiess.

(0) The Larry and Elizabeth Harmer Trftisé “ Harmer Trust) holds shares of beneficial interest (the
Silver Lake Share¥ in ML-Silver Lake Ill Trust, a Delaware statutotrust with Merrill Lynch Alternative Investmentd.C as Managing
Trustee (the “ Silver Lake Trut The Silver Lake Trust holds a partnership et in Silver Lake Partners I, L.P. The Sikeke Shares
are owned by the Harmer Trust free and clear ofeardyall claims, liens, rights, licenses, securitgrests, mortgages, charges, encumbrances
or restrictions.




(P) There are no claims, liens, rightefses, security interests, mortgages, chargeangirances or restrictions
against the Harmer Group’s right, title or interi@sor to the Collateral described at Section 2{i{)v) above, except those created or to be
created under the security documents describeddtidd 2 above.

(@) There is no action, suit, investigat or proceeding pending or, to the knowledgéhefHarmer Group, threatened,
involving the Distribution Agreement, the ZAGGborogduct or the Option Agreement.

) Except as expressly provided hereid the other documents executed by the Partiesrinection herewith, no
person has made any statement or representatiba tdarmer Group regarding any fact relied upomhigyHarmer Group in entering into this
Agreement and the Harmer Group specifically doagelg upon any such statement or representati@ngfother person in executing this
Agreement.

11. _Representations, Warranties and Covenantedfompany The Company hereby represents and warrant&tblaihmer
Group as follows:

(@) The Company has all necessary pawearauthority and has taken all action necessaenter into this Agreement
and the other agreements contemplate hereby tdwithia Party, to consummate the transactionsetoplated hereby and thereby and to
perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder.

(b) This Agreement and the other agreesmemntemplate hereby to which it is a Party haaenbduly and validly
executed and delivered by the Company and corestitlggal, valid and binding obligation of the Ca@myp enforceable against the Company in
accordance with their terms.

(c) The execution and delivery of thisrdgment and the other agreements contemplatedyh@oeatot, and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated lgeartl thereby will not, conflict with or violatedtprovisions of any contract, agreement,
order or restriction to which the Company is aypaot to which the Company is bound.

(d) There is no action, suit, investigat or proceeding pending or, to the knowledgéhefCompany, threatened,
involving the Distribution Agreement, ZAGGbox oet®ption Agreement.




(e) Except as expressly provided herathtae other documents executed by the Partiesrinection herewith, no
person has made any statement or representatiba @ompany regarding any fact relied upon by tbm@any in entering into this Agreemt
and the Company specifically does not rely uponsargh statement or representation of any otheppeémsexecuting this Agreement.

12. PostClosing CovenantsWithin fourteen (14) days after the date her#od,Harmer Group shall provide ZAGG with the
following:

(@) Evidence reasonably satisfactoryAGZ that the liens reflected in item 13 in SectiyrSchedule B of the Wolf
Creek Title Report, and item 11 in Schedule C ef\tteeatherford Title Report, have been terminatetiranonveyed.

(b) Evidence reasonably satisfactory AGS6 that Harmer has recorded Lot License 1 and iagnse 2 in the official
records of the City of Weatherford, Parker Couiitgxas.

(c) Evidence reasonably satisfactory AGS6 that the deeds of trust to be recorded in retspiel ot License 1 and Lot
License 2 will, when recorded, constitute firstopitiy liens and encumbrances on Lot License 1 avtd_icense 2 and all of Harmer's interest
therein.

(d) A copy of a filed UCC-3 Terminatiotafment terminating that certain security intehedtl by SGG Investors,
LLC in and to the assets of Holdings, and filedU&C Filing No. 375904201033.

(e) Evidence reasonably satisfactoryA@% that SR Funding has assigned to Holdings adyadirprofits interests
held by SR Funding under the Mesquite Joint Venfigeeement and the La Quinta Joint Venture Agredraged all rights of SR Funding
under the La Quinta Participant Lender Agreement.

® Evidence reasonably satisfactory &G that SR Funding has consented to Harmer's assgt to Holdings of
any and all interest held by Harmer in the Mesqdiitiat Venture Agreement and the La Quinta Joinit\iee Agreement.

(9) Evidence reasonably satisfactory A& that Managing Trustee of the Silver Lake Thess consented to the
Harmer Trust's pledge of the Silver Lake Share2AGG.

(h) Evidence reasonably satisfactory Ads& that Harmer has acquired 100% of the membeistgpests of Holdings,
free and clear of any liens or encumbrances.




0] The original certificates for the @eBhares, together with a duly executed stock powe
()] The original Celio Warrants, togethdth a duly executed stock power.

(k) Evidence reasonably satisfactory A4 that any and all consents necessary for thee®fe assignment of any
membership interests, shares, partnership inte@stdéher interests formerly held by Harmer or ahis affiliates and transferred to Holdings
in connection with this Settlement Agreement hagerbobtained.

13. Tax Consequencedn connection with the payment of the amounec#jed in Section 2 of this Agreement, the Company
makes no representation as to the tax consequendability arising from said payment. The Partieslerstand and agree that any tax
consequences or liability inuring to the Harmer @rarising from this payment shall be solely trepmnsibility of the members of the Harmer
Group, and that the Company shall not be respan$ilblany such consequences or liability.

14. Indemnity.

(@) Indemnification by the Harmer Grauthe Harmer Group covenants and agrees to indgrand hold harmless tl
ZAGG from and against any and all claims, obligagidiabilities, judgments, damages, losses, teo@sts, attorneys’ fees, and expenses (and
all claims with respect to any of the foregoingLfisses’) which the ZAGG may suffer or incur as a resdlboin connection with (i) any
untrue representation of or breach of warrantyhgyHarmer Group in this Agreement, or (ii) the lofeaf or nonfulfillment of any covenant,
agreement, or undertaking of the Harmer GroupimAlgreement.

(b) Indemnification by ZAGGZAGG covenants and agrees to indemnify and hatchless the Harmer Group from
and against any and all Losses which the Harmeu@snoay suffer or incur as a result of or in coniectwith (i) any untrue representation of
or breach of warranty by ZAGG in this Agreement(igrthe breach of or nonfulfillment of any coventaagreement or undertaking of ZAGG
in this Agreement.

(c) Matters Involving Third Parties

() ZAGG, its affiliates and their respige officers, directors, employees, agents andesmtatives (the “
Indemnitees) shall promptly give written notice to the Harm@roup of any claim by a third party (a “ Third Ba€laim”) which might give
rise to any Loss by the Indemnitees, stating thereaand basis of such Third Party Claim and thewrhthereof to the extent known;
provided, however, that no delay on the part of the Indemniteesoiifying the Harmer Group shall relieve the Harroup from any
liability or obligations hereunder unless (and tisetely to the extent) the Harmer Group therelpréjudiced by the delay. Such notice sha
accompanied by copies of all relevant documentatiibim respect to such Third Party Claim, includibgf not limited to, any summons,
complaint or other pleading which may have beeweskrany written demand or any other document strument.
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(i) If the Harmer Group acknowledgesimriting delivered to the Indemnitees that therfiar Group shall b
obligated under the terms of its indemnificatiotigditions hereunder in connection with such Thiedtf? Claim, then the Harmer Group shall
have the right to assume the defense of any TlartyClaim at its own expense and by its own coljnggich counsel shall be reasonably
satisfactory to the Indemnitees; providdtbwever, that the Harmer Group shall not have the riglegsume the defense of any Third Party
Claim, notwithstanding the giving of such writteckaowledgement, if (i) the Indemnitees shall hame or more legal or equitable defenses
available to them which are different from or irdéibn to those available to the Harmer Group, andhe opinion of the Indemnitees, counsel
for the Harmer Group could not adequately repregeninterests of the Indemnitees because sucdtestsecould be in conflict with those of 1
Harmer Group, (ii) such Third Party Claim is reaaioly likely to have an effect on any other matteydnd the scope of the indemnification
obligation of the Harmer Group or (iii) the Harn@roup shall not have assumed the defense of thed-Fairty Claim in a timely fashion.

(iii) If the Harmer Group does not exeeits right to assume the defense of a Third-Raldim by giving the
written acknowledgement referred to in Section J@Jcor is otherwise restricted from so assumiygthe proviso to Section 14(c)(ii), the
Harmer Group shall nevertheless be entitled tdgipate in such defense with its own counsel aritaiwn expense; and in any such case, the
Indemnitees may assume the defense of the Thiry-Béaim, with counsel which shall be reasonablyséactory to the Harmer Group, and
shall act reasonably and in accordance with trmaddaith business judgment and shall not effegtsattlement without the consent of the
Indemnitees, which consent shall not unreasonablyithheld or delayed.

(iv) If the Harmer Group exercises ightito assume the defense of a Third-Party Claishall not make any
settlement of any claims without obtaining in coctizn therewith a full release of the Indemnitéegprm and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Indemnitees.

15. Consideration The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree tloat giod valuable consideration has been given &r th
covenants and agreements set forth herein an@alchtParty has been fully advised (to the extetttttey have deemed necessary) regarding
this Agreement and their respective claims by cdemdegal counsel of their choosing.

16. _No Admission of Liability The Parties hereto agree that this Agreemeantired into in settlement of disputed claims, and
execution of this Agreement and the performanddebbligations hereunder shall not be deemed emkadmission of liability or an
admission against interest by any Party hereto.
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17.  Nonassignment of ClaimsThe Parties, and each of them, warrant and septehat there has been no assignment, saleg;
hypothecation, or transfer of any of the claimsigeieleased hereby and that they are the sole svafighose claims, and that their executio
this Agreement constitutes a full and completeasteand discharge of those claims.

18. Full and Independent Knowledg&ach Party hereto represents that it has bgeagented by an attorney in connection with
the preparation and review of this Agreement, iisatepresentative has specifically discussed itstattorney the meaning and effect of this
Agreement and that its representative has carefedlyd and understands the scope and effect ofpeaetsion contained herein. Each Party
further represents that it does not rely, and lmsealied upon, any representation or statementenhbgdhe other Party hereto or any of its
representatives with regard to the subject mdttesis or effect of this Agreement and has volulytartered into this Agreement.

19.  SuccessorsThis Agreement shall be binding upon and inarthe benefit of the heirs, executors, administeateuccessors,
and assigns of each of the Parties.

20. _Preparation of this Agreement and Constraatitits Terms The Parties agree that each of them have, thrther attorneys,
participated in and contributed to the preparatibthis Agreement. The Parties agree that thisAgrent shall be regarded and deemed as
having been prepared jointly by the Parties herdioy ambiguity or uncertainty existing herein $hadt be interpreted or construed against
Party by virtue of who may have drafted such priovis

21. Amendment to this Agreement his Agreement may not be altered, amended, fimddior otherwise changed in any respe:
particular whatsoever except by a writing executg@n authorized representative of each Party teret

22. Further AssurancesEach of the Parties, without further consideratagrees to execute and deliver such other dousraed
take such other action as may be necessary to conate more effectively the subject matter hereof.

23. Execution in CounterpartsThe Parties hereto agree that this Agreementlreaxecuted in counterparts and that it is theni
of the Parties that the copy signed by a Partyhelfully enforceable against said Party, andighiesd counterparts shall be deemed to be an
original. A faxed signature shall have the sanfiectfas though it were signed in the original.

24.  Authorization Any person signing this Agreement or any ExHhilgiteto for or on behalf of an entity other thamatural
person does by said signature warrant that heeoisstuly authorized by said entity to undertakehsaction on its behalf, and that such
signature is the valid and binding act of thattgnti
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25. _Governing Law; Jurisdictian This Agreement shall be construed in accordaritte and all disputes hereunder shall be
governed by, the laws of the State of Utah, withegtard to Utah’s principles of conflicts of law§he Parties hereto consent to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the state and federal courts of 8tate of Utah for the resolution of any disput thhay arise regarding this Agreeme
including for the enforcement, interpretation, ission or termination of any provision hereof. TPerties covenant and agree that any such
claim asserted in any jurisdiction other than therts of the State of Utah shall, upon applicatiba Party hereto, be dismissed immediately in
favor of the pursuit of an action in the courtdlté State of Utah.

26.  AttorneysFees. If any action is brought because of any bredabr to enforce, interpret, rescind, or terminaty af the
provisions of this Agreement or the any of the bisihereto, the Party or Parties prevailing inhsaction shall be entitled to recover from the
other Party or Parties reasonable attorneys’ fadsaurt costs incurred in connection with suclioacthe amount of which shall be fixed by
the court and made a part of any judgment rendered.

27.  _Severability Should any part, term, or provision of this Agmeent be declared or determined by any court itdazl or
invalid, the validity of the remaining parts, termasd provisions shall not be affected therebysaid illegal or invalid part, term, or provision
shall be deemed not to be part of this Agreement.

28.  Entire Agreement This Agreement sets forth the entire agreemetwéen the Parties and supersedes any and all prior
agreement or understandings between the Partigpeg to the subject matter hereof.

29.  Waiver. Acceptance by either Party of any performanse tean required hereby shall not be deemed toAmeveer of the
rights of such Party to enforce all of the termd aanditions hereof. No waiver of any such rigatdunder shall be binding unless reduced to
writing and signed by the Party to be charged thighe

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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13




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executedAlgieement as of the date first shown above.

Teleportall :

Holdings:

Global:

Harmer :

ZAGG:

Teleportall, LLC

By: Is/

Print
Name:

Its:

Harmer Holdings, LLC

By: Is/

Print
Name:

Its:

Global Industrial Services Limite

By: Is/
Print
Name:
Its:
Isl

Lorence Harme
ZAGG Incorporatec

By: Is/

Print
Name:

Its:
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EXHIBIT A

[Promissory Note]
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EXHIBIT B

[Deeds of Trust]

16




EXHIBIT C

[Collateral Assignment of Harmer Holdings membepshterests for rights in the LaQuinta, Mesquitgu@®@rh Mountain Ranch,
Hidden Valley I, Draper and Pineview Village protpes, and Celio Shares and Warrants]
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EXHIBIT D

[Collateral Assignment for Merrill Lynch account]
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EXHIBIT E

[Securities Pledge Agreement for the Collateralr&la
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EXHIBIT F

[Teleportall Commission Agreement]
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EXHIBIT G

[License Agreement]
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EXHIBIT H

[10b-5 Plan]
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EXHIBIT |

[Wolfcreek Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT J

[Weatherford Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT K

[Mesquite Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT L

[La Quinta Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT M

[Draper Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT N

[Hidden Valley Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT O

[Oquirrh Mountain Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT P

[Pineview Property Legal Description]
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EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries of ZAGG Incorporated

The subsidiaries of ZAGG Incorporated (the “Registant”) as of March 17, 2011, are listed below:

Subsidiary Name Ownership Jurisdiction
ZAGG Europe Limitec 100% United Kingdom
ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Company, I 100% United State:
ZAGG International Distribution Limite 100% Ireland

HzO, Inc. 55%

United State:



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert G. Pedersen ll, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Repartfmrm 10-K of ZAGG Incorporated for the year en@etember 31, 2010;

Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mateGalor omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the cistanmces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of andHermeriods presented in this report.

4.

The registrant's other certifyin§jadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing emaihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(H and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpareédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control owearicial reporting, or caused such internal cordx@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitieral accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of gggatrant's disclosure controls and proceduregeesknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe registrant's internal control over financggorted that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigis fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annepbrt) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

The registrant's other certifyinfiadrs and | have disclosed, based on our moshtenaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and niatkweaknesses in the design or operation of ialezontrol over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial information;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiagttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 201

/s/ ROBERT G. PEDERSEN

Robert G. Pedersen
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, Brandon T. O'Brien, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Repartfmrm 10-K of ZAGG Incorporated for the year en@etember 31, 2010;

Based on my knowledge, this repogsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mateGalor omit to state a material fact necessary

to make the statements made, in light of the cistanmces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of andHermeriods presented in this report.

4.

The registrant's other certifyin§jadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing emaihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(H and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpareédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control owearicial reporting, or caused such internal cordx@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitieral accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of gggatrant's disclosure controls and proceduregeesknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe registrant's internal control over financggorted that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigis fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annepbrt) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

The registrant's other certifyinfiadrs and | have disclosed, based on our moshtenaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and niatkweaknesses in the design or operation of ialezontrol over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial information;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiagttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 201

/s BRANDON T. CBRIEN

Brandon T. CBrien
Chief Financial Officel



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report oniiRdk0-K of ZAGG Incorporated (the "Company") for tear ended December 31, 2010 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisstbe (Report"), I, Robert G. Pedersen II, Chief Exae Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8 1350, as adopted pursad®06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thath&obest of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with thejuerements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemmsiExchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

/SIROBERT G. PEDERSEN
Robert G. Pedersen

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer

March 24, 201:

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOR and shall not, except to the extent
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be @ekfiled by the Company for purposes of Sectiomwflie Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeadjuired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnisteethé Securities and Exchange Commission or ifs g@an request.



EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report oniiRdk0-K of ZAGG Incorporated (the "Company") for tear ended December 31, 2010 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisstbe (Report™), I, Brandon T. O’Brien, Chief FinaakOfficer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8 1350, as adopted pursad®06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thath&obest of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with thejuerements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemmsiExchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

/sSIBRANDON T. C BRIEN
Brandon T. CBrien
Chief Financial Officer

March 24, 201:

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOR and shall not, except to the extent

required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be @ekfited by the Company for purposes of Sectionflie Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeagjuired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnishethé Securities and Exchange Commission or itsgb@n request.



